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Documents Incorporated by Reference:
1. Portions of the corporation’s definitive Proxy Statement dated March 4, 1996 for an April 3, 1996 Annua Meeting of Stockholders
are incorporated by reference in Part 111.

PART I
ITEM 1 - BUSINESS

A. O. Smith Corporation, a Delaware corporation organized in 1916, its subsidiaries and its affiliates (hereafter collectively called the
"Corporation” unlessthe context otherwise requires) are engaged in four business segments. These segments are Original Equipment
Manufacturer ("OEM") Products, Water Products, Fiberglass Products, and Other Products.

The corporation's principal OEM Products businessis the Automotive Products Company, a supplier of truck and automaobile
structural components and assemblies. OEM Products also includes the Electrical Products Company which produces fractional
horsepower and hermetic electric motors. The Water Products Company is aleading manufacturer of residential and commercial gas,
oil, and electric water heating systems. Smith Fiberglass Products Inc. (Smith Fiberglass) manufactures reinforced thermosetting resin
piping. Other Products consists of three units. A. O. Smith Harvestore Products, Inc. (Harvestore) is a manufacturer of agricultural
feed storage and handling systems, for which AgriStor Credit Corporation (AgriStor) provides financing, and industrial and municipal
water and bulk storage systems. The corporation intends to sell the agricultural business and isin the process of liquidating AgriStor.
In December of 1995 the corporation expanded its presence in the environmental bulk storage tank business withthe purchase of
Peabody TecTank, Inc. (TecTank). TecTank isamanufacturer of epoxy-coated steel and aluminum storage tanks primarily used in
industrial, food processing, water, and waste water applications. Information regarding industry segmentsis provided in Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements which appear elsewhere herein.

The following table summarizes revenuesby segment for the corporation's operations. This segment summary and all other
information presented in this section should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notesthereto
which appear el sewhere herein.

Y ears Ended December 31 (Dollarsin Millions)
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1995 1994 1993 1992
1991
CEM Pr oduct s
Aut onpti ve Products

Truck franes $ 666.4 $ 559.4 $ 487.2 $ 419.1
$318.5
O her 178.9 163. 3 119.1 108.5
107. 6
Total Autonotive 845. 3 722. 7 606. 3 527.6
426. 1
El ectrical Products 317.3 281.2 242.5 225.6
205.1

Total OEM Products 1,162.6 1, 003.9 848. 8 753. 2

631. 2

Wat er Products 276.0 271.5 248. 1 215.2
194. 6

Fi ber gl ass Products 58. 6 57.9 58.9 43.9
53.9

O her Products 47. 6 40. 2 38.1 34.0
36.1

Total Corporation $1,544.8 $1,373.5 $1,193.9 $1,046.3
$915. 8

OEM PRODUCTS

Aut onpti ve Products

Automotive sales in 1995 of $845.3 million, or 55 percent of total corporation revenues, increased 17 percent from previous year
sales. This wasdue to continued strength in the North American market for both the light and heavy truck segments. Automotive
Products had product on six of thetop seven selling vehicles sold in the U.S. in 1995.

Automotive Products has contracts, some of which are subject to economic price adjustments, to supply frame assemblies and
components to Ford, Chrysler, and General Motorsin the passenger car and light truck class. Because of theimportance of light
vehicle sales to this unit, it is affected by general business conditions in the North American automotive industry. The company isaso
asupplier of truck frames to most domestic producers of medium and heavy-duty trucks, such as Ford, Navistar International,
Freightliner, and Paccar.

The largest product group within Automotive Products continuesto be truck frames and components which accounted for 79 percent
of Automotive Products sales and almost 43 percent of the corporation's revenues. The company continuesto hold its lead positionin
truck frame manufacturing in the United States and Canada, supplying nearly 40 percent of the 1995 market.

In 1995, the Milwaukee, Wisconsin plant began shipping full frame assembliesfor the new Chevrolet Tahoe/GMC Y ukon and the
extended cab version of the Dodge Ram pickup truck. The Granite City, Illinoisplant began producing engine cradles for the
redesigned Ford Taurus/Mercury Sable and the Milan, Tennessee plant began shipping siderail assemblies for the Nissan pickup.

Automotive Products reached an agreement in 1995 to establish ajoint venture in Changchun, China, with First Auto Works and
Golden Lion Group to produce automotive structures. A. O. Smith isthe majority owner in the venture and will begin producing
components in January of 1997.

[T S— .
E=amas EDGARSr 9002, EDGAR Online. Inc.




In 1996, the company plans two new product programs and three major redesign programs. In thefirst quarter, production will begin
on frame rails for the new Nissan pickup truck followed by production to support Volvo/GM's new Class 8 heavy truck in the third
guarter. The Volvo custom framerails will be fabricated at a new regional assembly plant in Roanoke, Virginia. Major redesign
programs include suspension links on the 1997 Camry, full frame for the Econoline/Club Wagon, and the full framefor the Dakota
Pickup. Assembly for the Dakota pickup will be at anewregional plant in Plymouth, Michigan.

The company's products are sold in competitive markets with itsprincipal competitors including Dana Corporation, Magna
International, and integrated units of Ford, Chrysler, and General Motors.

The following table summarizes salesto the company's three largest automotive customers:

Years Ended Decenber 31(Dollars in

M 11ions)
1995 1994 1993 1992 1991
Ford
Sal es $408. 8 $325. 6 $266. 9 $219.3 $177.5
Per cent age of total
corporation revenues 26. 5% 23. 7% 22. 4% 21. 0%
19. 4%
Chrysl er
Sal es $173.8 $177.6 $118.2 $96.7 $ 75.8
Per cent age of total
corporation revenues 11. 3% 12. 9% 9. 9% 9.2%
8. 3%
General Modtors
Sal es $164.5 $135.9 $132.0 $148.1 $115.6
Per cent age of total
corporation revenues 10. 6% 9. 9% 11. 1% 14. 2%
12. 6%
Tot al 48. 4% 46. 5% 43. 4% 44. 4%
40. 3%

Electrical Products

Sales of electric motorsincreased by $36.1 million or 13% in 1995 to $317.3 million. The increased volume came primarily as aresult
of strong market demand for hermetic motors and sales growth in the export segment. Sales of motors were up for heating, ventilating
and air conditioning, for both original equipment and replacement customers as a result of growing demand in 1995. The
manufacturing operations handled the increased volume without disproportionate increases in costs.

The company's product linesincludejet pump motors sold to manufacturers of homewater systems, swimmingpools, hot tubs and
spas; and fan motors used in furnaces, air conditioners, and blowers, as well as fractional horsepower motors used in other consumer
products. Hermetic motors are sold worldwide to manufacturers of compressors and are used in air conditioning and refrigeration
systems. In addition to selling its products directly to OEMs, Electrical Products also markets its products through a distributor
network which sellsto both OEMs and the related after-market. The company estimatesthat approximately one half of themarket is
derived fromthe lesscyclical replacement business with theremainder being impacted by general business conditions in the new
construction market.

The company's principal products are sold in competitive markets with itsmajor competitors being Emerson Electric, General Electric,
Magnetek, Inc., Fasco, and vertically integrated customers.

WATER PRODUCTS

Sales in 1995 were arecord $276 million, increasing slightly from$271.5 million in 1994, which represents 18 percent of total
corporation revenues. The company capitalized on its strong wholesale channels to improve market share in the commercial water
heater industry.
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Water Products marketsresidential gas and electric water heaters through a diverse network of plumbing wholesalersin the United
States. The mgjority of Water Products salesisin the lesscyclical replacement market although the new housing market isan
important segment as well. The residential water heater market remainshighly competitive with Water Products and three other
manufacturers supplying over 90 percent of market requirements.

Water Products marketscommercial water heating systemsthrough a diverse network of plumbing wholesalersin the United States
and Canada. Commercial water heating systems are used in awiderange of applicationsincluding schools, nursing homes, hospitals,
prisons, hotels, motels, laundries, restaurants, stadiums, amusement parks, car washes, and other large users of hot water. The
commercial market is characterized by competition froma broader range of products and competitors than occursin the residential
market.

Water Products Company established a joint venture with Nanjing Water Heater Company of China to manufacture instantaneous and
storage type heaters for the Chinese market. Water Products Company is a majority owner of the venture, which is scheduled to begin
operation in early 1996.

The principal competitors in the Water Products segment are Rheem Manufacturing, State Industries, The American Water Heater
Group (formerly SABH, Inc.) and Bradford-White. Water Productsis the largest manufacturer of commercial water heaters andis a
major manufacturer of residential water heaters in the United States.

FIBERGLASS PRODUCTS

Smith Fiberglass sales totaled $58.6 millionin 1995; up dightly from 1994 salesof $57.9 million. Salesto theinternational petroleum
industry were strong during 1995. This wasoffset by the continuing effects of strong competition in the service station market.

Smith Fiberglass manufactures reinforced thermosetting resin piping and fittings used to carry corrosive materials. Typical
applications include chemical and industrial plant piping, oil field piping, and underground distribution at gasoline service stations.
Smith Fiberglass also manufactures high pressure fiberglass piping systems used in the petroleum production industry. Its products are
sold through a network of distributors.

Smith Fiberglass has formed a joint venture with Harbin Composites Corporation of Harbin, Chinato supply fiberglass pipeto the
Chineseail industry. Smith Fiberglassisamajority owner of the new venture, which is scheduled to begin production in early 1996.

The company's principal products are sold in competitive markets with itsmajor competitors being Ameron Corporation, Fibercast
Company, Environ Corporation, and Total Containment Corporation.

OTHER PRODUCTS

Other Products includes Harvestore, AgriStor, and TecTank. Harvestore sales in 1995 were $40.6 million, whichwere about 9 percent
higher than 1994 sales of $37.4 million. The increase wasattributable to demand for waste water storage systems due to growing
environmental concerns. AgriStor revenues in 1995 were $2.8 million, down 3 percent from $2.9 million in 1994. The lower revenues
resulted from a decline in the size of AgriStor'slending portfolio and represents management's continued progress toward itsgoal to
liquidate the agricultural finance business.

Harvestore manufactures and markets agricultural feed storage and handling systems, and industrial and potable water and bulk storage
systems. Harvestore's products are distributed through a network of independent dealers. AgriStor assistsfarm customers in the
financing of Harvestore/R/ equipment out of offices in Milwaukee, Wisconsin and Columbus, Ohio.

In December the Corporation purchased TecTank fromthe Pullman Company. TecTank, withfiscal 1995 sales of $49.0 million, is a
manufacturer of epoxy-coated steel and aluminum storage tanks primarily used in industrial, food processing, water and waste water
applications. It is one of thefew manufacturers to supply factory-coated tanksto the market segments mentioned above. TecTank will
complement Harvestore and provide the corporation with a more comprehensive product line for both dry storage and liquid storage
applications.

AgriStor competes with other agricultural banks and farm credit service companies. Harvestore'sand TecTank's products are sold in
competitive markets that include concrete, site-welded, and bolted tanks. Principal competitorsinclude Columbian, Imperial, and
Ladig.

Raw Material
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Raw materialsfor the corporation's operations, which consist primarily of steel, copper, and aluminum, are generally available from
several sourcesin adequate quantities.

Seasonality

The corporation's third quarter revenues and earnings have traditionally been lower than the other quarters dueto Automotive
Products model year changeovers and customer plant shutdowns.

Research and Development, Patentsand Trademarks

The corporation conducts new product and process development at its Corporate Technology Center in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and at
its operating unit locations. The objective of this activity isto increase the competitiveness of A. O. Smithand generate new products
to fit the corporation’'s market knowledge. Total expenditures for research and development in 1995, 1994, and 1993 were
approximately $9.7 million, $9.2 million and $7.6 million, respectively.

The corporation ownsand uses in its businesses various trademarks, trade names, patents, trade secrets, and licenses. While a number
of these areimportant to the corporation, it does not consider a material part of its business to be dependent on any one of them.

Employees
The corporation and its subsidiaries employed approximately 13,000 persons in its operations as of December 31, 1995.
Backlog

Normally none of the corporation's operations sustain significant backlogs. However, the Automotive Products Company haslong
term contractsto supply parts to thelarge auto and truck manufacturers.

Environmental Laws

Compliance withfederal, state and local lawsregulating the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to the
protection of theenvironment has not had a material effect and is not expected to have amaterial effect upon the capital expenditures,
earnings, or competitive position of the corporation. See ITEM 3.

Foreign Sales

Total export sales fromthe U.S. were $135 million, $114 million, and $71 million in 1995, 1994, and 1993, respectively. The increase
in sales from 1994 to 1995 was largely attributable to increased exportsby Electrical Products Company and Harvestore. The amount
of revenue and operating profit derived from, or the assets attributable to, sales outside the North American geographic area are not a
substantial portion of total corporation operations.

ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES

The corporation manufactures itsproducts in 38 locations worldwide. These facilities have an aggregate floor space of approximately
9,205,000 square feet, consisting of approximately 7,148,000 square feet owned by the corporation and 2,057,000 square feet of
leased space. Thirteen of the corporation's facilitiesare foreign plants withapproximately 1,144,000 square feet of space, including
approximately 441,000 square feet which areleased.

The manufacturing plants presently operated by the corporation are listed below by industry segment. This data excludes four plants
operated by a Mexican affiliate.
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United States For ei gn
CEM Product s
-Autonotive Products Granite Cty, IL; Rockford,IL(2); Barrie, Canada
(5,025,000 sq. ft.) Corydon, IN Bowing Geen, KY;

Bel canp, MD; Bel | evue, OH;

Mlan, TN, M| waukee, W

-Electrical Products Mebane, NC, M. Sterling, KY; Bray, Ireland;
(1,641,000 sq. ft.) Tipp Cty, OH Upper Sandusky, OH Acuna, Mexi co;
Juar ez,
Mexi co(5);
Mont errey, Mexico
Wat er Products Fl orence, KY; MBee, SC, Stratford,
Canada( 2);
(1,402,000 sq. ft.) E Paso, TX, Seattle, WA Juarez, Mexico;
Vel dhoven,

The Net herl ands

Fi bergl ass Products Little Rock, AR (2);
(438,000 sq. ft.) Wchita, KS

O her Products Bakersfield, CA; DeKalb IL;
(699, 000 sq. ft.) Parsons, KS; Fort MIls, SC
W nchester, TN

The principal equipment at the corporation's facilities consist of presses, welding, machining, ditting and other metal fabricating
equipment, winding machines, and furnace and painting equipment. The corporation regardsits plant and equipment as
well-maintained and adequate for its needs. Multishift operations are used where necessary.

In thefourth quarter of 1995, the Automotive Products Company, Water Products Company, and Smith Fiberglass Products Inc. each
established a mgjority-owned joint venture in the People's Republic of China. The companies and partnersare in the process of making
investments in facilities.

In addition, the corporation isin the process of acquiring facilities for two new Automotive Products Company plantsin Plymouth,
Michigan and Roanoke, Virginia, with start up of these facilitiesin 1996.

ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Asof December 31, 1995, the corporation and Harvestore weredefendants in eight cases alleging damages for economic losses
claimed to have arisen out of alleged defects in Harvestore animal feed storage equipment. Some plaintiffs are seeking punitive as well
as compensatory damages. The corporation believes that a significant number of these claimswere related to the deteriorated general
farm economy. In 1995, fifteen caseswere concluded. The corporation and Harvestore continue to vigorously defend these cases.

Two of theeight pending cases contain class action allegations. One of the cases isaNew Y ork state court action which names the
corporation, Harvestore, and two of its dealers asdefendants. The court hasdenied the plaintiffs motion to certify the class and has
granted the defendants’ motions dismissing some of the plaintiffs allegations. The plaintiffs are appealing the court's rulings.

The second case is pending in the Federal District Court for the Southern District of Ohio. It wasfiled in August 1992 and the court, in
March 1994, conditionally certified it as a class action on behalf of purchasers and lessees of Harvestore structures manufactured by
the corporation and Harvestore. A noticeof the certification was mailed to the purported class members in thethird quarter of 1994,
with approximately 5,500 "opt out" formsbeing filed with the court, theimpact of whichis unknown. The court canceled a previously
set trial date as aresult of motions the corporation filed seeking summary judgment or in the alternative decertification of the class.
The corporation is awaiting a ruling.

Based on the facts currently available to management and its prior experience with lawsuitsalleging damages for economic loss
resulting from use of the Harvestore animal feed storage equipment, management is confident that the class action suits can be
defeated and that thelawsuits do not represent a material threat to the corporation. The corporation believes that any damages,
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including any punitivedamages, arising out of the pending cases are adequately covered by insurance and recorded reserves. No range
of reasonably possible losses can be estimated because in most instances the complaint is silent asto theamount of the claim or states
it as an unspecified amount in excess of thejurisdictional minimum. The corporation reevaluates its exposure periodically and makes
adjustment of its reserves as appropriate.

A lawsuit for damages and declaratory judgments in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, State of Wisconsin, in whichthe
corporation and Harvestore are plaintiffsis pending against three insurance companies for failure to pay in accordance with liability
insurance policiesissued to the corporation. The insurers have failed to pay, infull or in part, certain judgments, settlements and
defense costsincurred in connection with pending and closed lawsuitsalleging damages for economic losses claimed to have arisen
out of alleged defects in Harvestore animal feed storage equipment. While the corporation has, in part, assumed applicability of this
coverage, an adverse judgment should not be material to its financial condition.

Aspart of its routine business operations, the corporation disposes of and recycles or reclaims certain industrial waste materials,
chemicals, and solvents at disposal and recycling facilitieswhich are licensed by appropriate federal, state and local agencies. In some
instances, when those facilitiesare operated such that hazardous substances contaminate the soil and groundwater, the United States
Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") will designate the contaminated sites as Superfund sites, and will designate those parties
which are believed to have contributed hazardous materials to the sites as potentialy responsible parties ("PRPs"). Under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA" or the "Superfund" law) and similar state
laws, each PRP that contributes hazardous substances to aSuperfund site isjointly and severally liable for the costs associated with
cleaning up thesite. Typically, PRPs negotiate with the EPA and those state environmental agenciesthat are involved in the matter
regarding the selection and implementation of a plan to clean up the Superfund site and the termsand conditions under which the PRPs
will beinvolved in the process. PRPs also negotiate witheach other regarding allocation of each PRP's share of the clean up costs.

The corporation is currently involved as a PRP in judicial and administrative proceedings initiated on behalf of the EPA seekingto
clean up the environment at seventeen Superfund sites and to recover costsit has or will incur asaresult of theclean up. Certain state
environmental agencieshave also asserted claimsto recover their clean up costsin some of these actions. The sites are asfollows:

Two separate but related sites in Kentucky involving the same storage and disposal operation. Proceedings were commenced on behal f
of the EPA in the United States District Court for the District of Kentucky, Louisville Divisionin March 1988 with respect to these
sites. A consent decree alocating liability among the PRPs for costs of remediation at the sites and the response costs of the EPA and
the Commonwealth of Kentucky wasexecuted by the corporation in September 1993. The consent decree was lodged by the Court in
1994 and the corporation paid the entire amount allocated to it asits share of the clean up costs. The corporation remains liablefor a
share of the cost overruns, but none are anticipated at thistime.

A sitein Indianaused for storage, treatment, recycling and disposal of waste chemicals. In January 1984, the company and several
other PRPs became parties to an action that had been pending in the United States District Court for the District of Indiana since
January 1980 regarding thissite. In July 1988, the corporation executed a consent decree allocating liability among the PRPs for costs

of remediation at thesite and the EPA's response costs. Remediation is well underway at the site.

A municipal landfill in Michiganis the subject of a proceeding that was filed on behalf of the EPA in the United States District Court
for the Western District of Michiganinthis case in April 1991. In1994 EPA required actions were taken and point source
contaminants were removed by theend of the year. Work to determine the extent to which along-term groundwater remedy may be
required began in 1995.

A county-owned incinerator, ashdisposal lagoon, and landfill in Ohio. A proceeding was commenced on behalf of the EPA inthe
United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio, Western Division regarding this site in December 1989. A final remedy
was selected and the consent decree, which was executed by the PRPs and the EPA, wasentered by the Court in March 1993. Work on
the remedy began shortly after the consent decree was entered and has been progressing on schedule.

An industrial and municipal waste landfill in Wisconsin. Separate proceedings commenced on behalf of the EPA and the State of
Wisconsin in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsinin November 1991 relative to this site were
consolidated into a single matter in 1992. The consent decree entered into by the PRPs, the EPA, and the State of Wisconsin divides
the siteinto two operable units, the first of which deals with soil remediation and an interim groundwater remedy and the second of
whichis anticipated to deal with the long-term groundwater remedy. The cap on thelandfill was completed in 1994 and work on the
interim groundwater remedy is underway. At this time, the extent to which long-term groundwater treatment will be required with
respect to the second operable unit has not been determined.

A drum disposal site in Wisconsin. In September 1992, the corporation joined a group of PRPs that attempted to negotiate with other
PRPs and the EPA to come to agreement as to therespective liabilities of the PRPsinvolved at the site, theimplementation of a planto
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clean up the site, and the termsand conditions under which the PRPs would be involved in the process. In May 1993, after those
negotiations stalled, the EPA issued an order to 17 of the PRPs, one of whichwas the corporation, under Section 106 of CERCLA
requiring them to take certain measuresto clean up thesite. In 1994 the cap on the landfill wascompleted and construction of the
groundwater monitoring and treatment system began. In 1995 the corporation settled al of its remaining liability at the site under an
agreement with two of themajor PRPs at the site which have assumed responsibility for completing the remediation required by the
EPA.

A former mining site in Colorado. The corporation held the majority of stock of a Colorado mining operation for a period of time
beginning in 1936 and ending in 1942. Because of that stock ownership, the corporation wasnotified by the EPA in March 1993 that it
isaPRP at the site. Estimates of clean-up costs at this site have been as high as$150,000,000. The corporation believesthat alarge
majority of those costs relate to contamination caused by a corporation that worked the minein the 1980s. In 1995, the EPA made an
offer to negotiate de minimis settlements with each PRP that contributed lessthan 3% of the hazardous materialsto the site. The
corporation accepted that offer, and settlement negotiations are expected to begin in 1996. However, the corporation continuesto
maintain that it has valid defenses to any liability at this site. Itisimpossible at thistime to reasonably estimate the corporation's
liability at this site, if any.

A drumrecycling facility. In 1992, the EPA commenced an action against a small group of PRPsin the United States District Court for
the Western District of Michiganto recover its response costs and require the PRPs to clean up a Superfund sitein Michigan. Those
PRPsfiled a motion for summary judgment in thismatter claiming they werenot responsible for cleaning up the site. The Court
granted the motion and the government has appealed. Those PRPs had previously commenced a third party contribution action against
approximately eighty other parties which wereinvolved at the subject site but were not named as defendantsin the EPA's action. The
corporation became athird party defendant to that action in January 1994. If the summary judgment is upheld by the Court of Appeals,
the action against the corporation and the other third party defendants will be dismissed.

A sitein Wisconsin that was formerly owned and operated by a drum recycling facility. When the property wasbeing devel oped for
residential purposes, it wasdiscovered that thesiteis contaminated. Subsequently, the EPA notified alarge group of PRPs that did
business with the recycler that they are responsible for remediating thesite. A PRP group was formed and it hasagreed to remediate
the site. The corporation joined that group in 1995. Some remedia activities have been performed at the site, but thefull extent of the
contamination and the types of remediation that will be required are till being investigated. It isimpossible at this time to accurately
estimate thetotal clean-up costs at the site or the corporation's liability for those costs, if any.

Two separate but related sites in Kansas and Missouri involving the same PCB treatment business. In 1995, the corporation received a
notice from the EPA that it isa PRP at the sites. Information concerning the extent of the contamination and the remediation that will
be required is not available. According to information the EPA made available to the corporation, it is believed that the corporation
did very little business with the PCB treatment operations and may qualify as a de minimisparty.

CERCLA providesthat the EPA hasauthority to enter into de minimis settlement agreements with those PRPs that arebelieved to
have contributed relatively small ("de minimis') amounts of materials to aSuperfund site ascompared to major contributors at the site.
The corporation has settled its liability at sitesin Indiana and Arkansas as a de minimisparty. Under those settlement agreements, the
corporation may have additional liability to participate in cleaning up the affected site under certain circumstances, such as: changes in
the scope of remedial action are required to the extent that costs to clean up the site are substantially increased, or new information is
discovered that indicates that the corporation contributed more or different materials to the site than was previously believed. There is
no information at this time which would indicate that the corporation will incur any material additional liability at either site. Further,
the corporation has joined withsimilarly situated PRPs to negotiate settlements as de minimisparties at three sitesin Indiana and
[llinais.

The corporation has compiled information regarding the cost to clean up all of the siteswhere the corporation has been designated a
PRP by the EPA or a comparable state agency. The following estimates include amounts that have already been spent at the sitesand
estimates of amounts that will be spent to complete remediation activities. The corporation estimates that the total cost to clean up al
of thesites is approximately $293.4 million. The corporation's estimate of the portion of thetota for whichthe corporation is or may
be responsible is approximately $7.3 million, of which $6.2 million has aready been paid by the corporation and its insurance
companies. The balance of the estimated cleanup costsis believed to be adequately covered by insurance and reserves which have
been established by the corporation. To the best of the corporation's knowledge, the insurers have the financial ability to pay any such
covered claims. The corporation reevaluates its exposure periodically and makes adjustment of its reserves as appropriate.

The above cost estimates are not complete. It isimpossible at this time to estimate the total cost of remediation for all of the sites, or
the corporation's ultimate share of those costs, for a variety of reasons. Many of thereasons arerelated to the fact that thesitesare in
various stages of the remediation process. For example, the investigation of the extent of remediation has not been completed at all

Sites; at severa sitesthe final remedy has not been selected; negotiations concerning the corporation's liability relative to the liability
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of theother PRPs continue at some sites; and for others, even though theremedy hasbeen selected, final cost estimates have not been
determined. Other uncertainties are based upon the current status of thelaw. Key issues that have not been resolved include the extent
to which costs associated with thesites are recoverable from insurers, the extent to which joint and several liability can be imposed
upon PRPs at the various sites, and the viability of defenses asserted by the PRPs. It isimpossible to determine at this time how the
courts will resolve thoseissues.

With the exception of the former mining site in Colorado discussed above, the amount alocated to the corporation at any specific site,
or inthe aggregate for all sites, is not expected to be material. Concerning the former mining site, ajudgment as to materidity is
premature given the early stage of theinvestigation, the uncertainty regarding appropriate remediation and its costs, and the potential
liability of governmental agencies in this case. However, even though the allocation process has not been completed at the site and
settlement negotiations with the EPA have not yet begun, it is anticipated that the corporation's liability at thesite will not be material
because the EPA istreating the corporation as a potential de minimis party.
Over the past several years, the corporation has self-insured aportion of its product liability loss exposure and other business risks.
The corporation has established reserves which it believes are adequate to cover incurred claims. For theyear ended December 31,
1995, the corporation had $60 million of third-party product liability insurance for individual lossesin excess of $1.5 million and for
aggregate losses in excess of $10 million.
Reference also Note 13 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
ITEM 4 - SUBMISSION OF MATTERSTO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matterswere submitted to a vote of the security holders during the fourth quarter of 1995.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE CORPORATION

Pursuant to General Instruction of G(3) of Form 10-K, thefollowing list isincluded asan unnumbered Item in Part | of this report in
lieu of being included in the company's Proxy Statement for its 1996 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ROBERT J. O'TOOLE
Chairman of the Board of Directors, President, and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. O'Toole, 55, became chairman of theboard of directorsin March 1992. He isa member of the Investment Policy Committee of
the board. He waselected chief executive officer in March 1989. He was elected president, chief operating officer and a director in
1986. From November 1990 to May 1992, heserved as head of the A. O. Smith Automotive Products Company, adivision of the
corporation. Mr. O'Toole joined the corporationin 1963. Heisadirector of Firstar Bank Milwaukee, N.A.
GLEN R. BOMBERGER
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Director

Mr. Bomberger, 58, has been a director and executive vice president and chief financial officer of the corporation since 1986. Heisa
member of the Investment Policy Committee of theboard of directors. Mr. Bomberger joined the corporation in 1960. Heis currently
adirector and vice president-finance of Smith Investment Company. Heisadirector of Portico Funds, Inc.

JOHN A. BERTRAND

President ~A. O. Smith Electrical Products Company

Mr. Bertrand, 57, has been president of A. O. Smith Electrical Products Company, a division of the corporation, since 1986. Mr.
Bertrand joined the corporation in 1960.

CHARLES J. BISHOP
Vice President ~ Corporate Technology

Dr. Bishop, 54, has been vice president-corporate technology since 1985. Dr. Bishop joined the corporation in 1981.
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DONALD M. HEINRICH
Vice President ~ Business Development
Mr. Heinrich, 43, was elected vice president-business devel opment in October 1992. Previously, from 1990 to 1992, he was president
of DM Heinrich & Co., afinancia advisory firm. From 1983 to 1990, he wassenior vice president of Shearson Lehman Brothers, an
investment banking firm.
JOHN J.KITA

Treasurer and Controller

Mr. Kita, 40, waselected treasurer and controller on February 6, 1995. Prior thereto, he served asassistant treasurer since he joined
the corporation in 1988.

SAMUEL LICAVOLI
President ~ A. O. Smith Automotive Products Company

Mr. Licavoli, 54, was appointed president of A. O. Smith Automotive Products Company, adivision of the corporation, in May 1992.
Previously, from 1988 to 1992, he was senior vice president, and from 1984 to 1988, vice president of operations for Walker
Manufacturing Company's OEM division, an automotive products company.

RONALD E. MASSA

President ~A. O. Smith Water Products Company

Mr. Massa, 46, became the president of A. O. Smith Water Products Company, a division of the corporation, in June 1995. He served
as the executive vice president-manufacturing and engineering since 1992 and has held other management positionsin the Water
Products Company. He joined the corporation in 1976.

ALBERT E.MEDICE

Vice President ~Europe
Mr. Medice, 52, was elected vice president ~ Europe in February 1995. Previoudly, from 1990 to 1995, hewas the general manager of
A. O. Smith Electric Motors (Ireland) Ltd., asubsidiary of the corporation. Mr. Medice joined the corporation in 1986 as vice
president-marketing for itsElectrical Products Company division.
EDWARD J. O'CONNOR

Vice President ~ Human Resour ces and Public Affairs

Mr. O'Connor, 55, has been vice president-human resources and public affairs for the corporation since 1986. He joined the
corporation in 1970.

W. DAVID ROMOSER
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Mr. Romoser, 52, was elected vice president, general counsel and secretary in March 1992. Prior thereto, he wasvice president,
genera counsel, and secretary from 1988 to 1992 and general counsel and secretary from 1982 to 1988 of Amsted Industries
Incorporated, a manufacturer of railroad, building and construction andindustrial products.
JAMES C. SCHAAP

President ~A. O. Smith Harvestor e Products, Inc.

Mr. Schaap, 54, has been president of A. O. Smith Harvestore Products, Inc., a subsidiary of the corporation, since 1988. He joined
the corporation in 1977.
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WILLIAM V. WATERS
President ~ Smith Fiberglass Products I nc.

Mr. Waters, 61, hasbeen president of Smith Fiberglass Products Inc., a subsidiary of the corporation, since 1988. He joined the
corporation in 1960.

PART II
ITEM 5 - MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

(8) Market Information. The Class A Common Stock of A. O. Smith Corporation is listed on the American Stock Exchange. As of
December 14, 1994, the Common Stock began trading on the New Y ork Stock Exchange. The symbolsfor these classes of the
corporation's stock are: SMCA for the Class A Common Stock and AOS for the Common Stock. Firstar Trust Company, P.O. Box
2077, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201 serves as the registrar, stock transfer agent, and the dividend reinvestment agent for both classes
of the corporation's common stock.

Quarterly Common Stock PriceRange

1995 Ist Qr. 2nd Qr. 3rd Qtr. 4t h
r.

gass A Common

H gh 24-3/8 24-7/8 28-7/8

27-1/ 4

Low 19-3/8 22-1/8 23-3/4

20-1/8

Common St ock

Hi gh 24-5/8 24-7/8 28-5/8
25-7/8

Low 19-1/8 21-7/8 23-5/8
19-1/8

1994 1st Qr. 2nd Qr. 3rd Qr. 4t h
Qr.

Cl ass A Common

Hi gh 39-1/4 34-1/2 30

27-1/8

Low 30-3/8 24-3/ 4 24-1/2

21-1/2

Common St ock

H gh 40 34-1/2 29-7/8
27-1/8

Low 30 25 23-3/4
21-1/8

(b) Holders. Asof January 31, 1996, the approximate number of holders of Class A Common Stock and Common Stock were 700 and
1300, respectively.

(c) Dividends. Dividends paid on the common stock are shown in Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements appearing
elsawhere herein. The corporation’s credit agreementscontain certain conditions and provisions which restrict the corporation's
payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of these provisions, retained earnings of $107.3 million were unrestricted as of
December 31, 1995.

ITEM 6 - SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(Dollarsin Thousands, except per share amounts)
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Net Revenues

Ear ni ngs (1 oss)
Cont i nui ng
oper ati ons

Cumul ative effect
of accounting
changes

Net earnings (Il oss)

Net earnings (Il oss)
applicable to
comon st ock

Pri mary earni ngs

(1 oss) per share
of conmmon st ock
Ear ni ngs before
cumul ative effect
of accounting
changes

Real i zati on of
tax credits

Ear ni ngs before
ef fect of
postretirenent
benefits

Change in
postretirenent
benefits, net
of taxes

Net earni ngs
(1 oss)

Fully diluted earnings
(1 oss) per share of
conmon st ock
Ear ni ngs before

cunmul ati ve effect
accounti ng changes
Real i zati on of

tax credits

of

Ear ni ngs before
ef fect of
postretiremnment
benefits

Change in
postretirenent
benefits, net
of taxes

Net earnings (Il oss)

Total assets

Long-term debt,
i ncl udi ng
finance subsidiary

Total stockhol ders
equity

Cash divi dends per
common share

L4

Year

1995 1994

Ended Decenber
1993

31

1992 1991

$1, 544,770 $1,373,546 $1, 193,870 $1, 046,345 $915, 833

61, 413 57, 347 42, 678 27, 206 3, 450
.- .- .- (44, 522)

61, 413 57, 347 42, 678 (17, 316) 3, 450

61, 413 57, 347 42, 678 (18, 172) 25

$2. 94 $2. 75 $2. 08 $1. 40 $ .00

00 00 00 08 00

2.94 2.75 2.08 1.48 .00

. 00 . 00 . 00 (2. 44) . 00

$2. 94 $2. 75 $2. 08 $(. 96) $ .00

$2. 94 $2. 75 $2. 08 $1. 33 $ .00

. 00 . 00 . 00 .08 . 00

2.94 2.75 2.08 1.41 .00

.00 .00 .00 (2.25)* .00

$2. 94 $2. 75 $2. 08 $(.84)* $ .00

952,918 847, 857 823, 099 768,987 754, 332

190,938 166, 126 190, 574 236,621 249, 186

wismnn 068Re0 3130745 £pcan289; 830 nc. 244,656 266, 897

$.58 $. 50 $. 42%* $. 40 $. 40



* For 1992, the net loss per share amounts are antidilutive because of the conversion of preferred stock.
** Excludes special dividend of .25 per share (split adjusted).

Effective January 1, 1992, the corporation adopted FAS No. 106, "Employers Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions." Inaddition, on January 1, 1992, the corporation adopted FASNo. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes."

ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALY SIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

A. O. Smith Corporation achieved record earnings of $61.4 million or $2.94 per sharein 1995 versus $57.3 million or $2.75 per share
in 1994. Three units, Automotive Products, Electrical Products, and Water Products established new sales records in 1995. Details of
individual unit performancewill be discussed later in this section.

Working capital at December 31, 1995 was $138.8 million compared to $113.6 million and $80.7 million at December 31, 1994 and
1993, respectively. Higher working capital requirements, predominantly accounts receivable and customer tooling, supported higher
salesin 1995 versus 1994. Higher salesin 1994 versus 1993 also led to increased working capital requirements, particularly for
accounts receivable, customer tooling and inventory, which were modestly offset by related increases in trade payables.

Capital expenditures were$91.0 millionin 1995 compared to $76.1 millionin 1994 and $54.7 million in 1993. Capital spending in
1995 washigher than 1994 levels due principally to new Automotive Products Company programs.

For 1996, the corporation projects capital expenditures, excluding investmentsin joint ventures, to be between $120 and $140 million.
A significant portion of these expendituresis associated with two new Automotive Products Company manufacturing plantsin
Roanoke, Virginia and Plymouth, Michigan. The corporation anticipates that the mgjority of the planned cash requirementswill be
funded with cash flow from operations.

In thefourth quarter of 1995, the corporation established threejoint venturesin the People's Republic of China. The corporation will
maintain the majority interestin each of these businesses. In addition to the above mentioned capital expenditures, the corporation
expectsto invest approximately $25 million in these venturesin 1996.

Long-term debt, excluding debt of the finance subsidiary, increased from $136.8 million at the end of 1994 to $167.1 million at the
end of 1995. The majority of the increase wasdue to the acquisition of Peabody TecTank for approximately $18 million. The
long-term debt of the finance subsidiary hasbeen reduced from $29.4 million in 1994 to $23.8 million at December 31, 1995, asthe
planned liquidation of AgriStor Credit Corporation continued. Despite the higher debt level, an increased equity base allowed the total
debt to total capita ratio, excluding the finance subsidiary, to remain relatively constant at 31.5 percent and 31 percent in 1995 and
1994, respectively. Given the capital spending and investment activities mentioned above, the corporation projects that the total debt
tototal capital ratio will be higher in 1996, but should return to a percentage more in line with recent yearsin 1997.

In June 1995, the corporation's multi-year revolving credit agreement wasincreased to $160 million and extended to June 30, 2000.
The amended agreement carries lower fees and borrowing costs.

During 1995, the corporation drew down $60 million of long-term debt under variousloan facilities. The notes rangein term from ten
to fifteen years. During the year, the corporation entered into two loan facilitieswith insurance companies, which as of December 31,
1995, give it theability to borrow up to $80 million.

The corporation usesfutures contracts to fix thecost of portions of itsexpected raw materials needs, primarily for copper and
aluminum, with the objective of reducing risk due to market price fluctuations. In addition, the corporation entersinto foreign currency
forward contractsto minimizethe effect of fluctuating foreign currencies on its income. Differences between the corporation's fixed
price and current market prices on raw materials contracts areincluded as part of inventory cost whenthe contracts mature.
Differences between the corporation's fixed price and current market prices on currency contracts arerecognized in the same period in
which gains or losses from thetransactions being hedged are recognized and, accordingly, no net gain or lossisrealized when
contracts mature. The corporation does not engagein speculationin itsderivatives strategies. The effect of these programs was not
materia on the results of operations for 1995, 1994, or 1993.

At the present time, the corporation is not a party to any contracts to manage its exposure to interest rate changesrelated to its
borrowing. The corporation does not expect interest rate movementsto significantly affect its liquidity or operating results in the
foreseeable future. At December 31, 1995, the corporation's floating rate debt amounted to 47 percent of itstotal debt.
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On December 14, 1994, the A. O. Smith Common Stock (AOS) moved from the American Stock Exchange back to the New Y ork
Stock Exchange after an absence of ten years. This move was made to enhance the recognition of the corporation's Common Stock.

Atits April 6, 1995 meeting, A. O. SmithCorporation's Board of Directorsincreased theregular quarterly dividend by 15 percent to
$.15 per share on its common stocks (Class A and Common). The last three quarterly dividend paymentsin 1995 were paid at thisrate,
resulting in atotal of $.58 per sharebeing paid versus$.50 per sharein 1994. A. O. Smith Corporation has paid dividends on its
common stock for 56 consecutive years.

Results of Operations

Revenuesin 1995 were $1.54 hillion, achieving record levels for thethird consecutive year and surpassing 1994 revenuesof $1.37
billion by 12.5 percent and 1993 revenuesof $1.19 hillion by 29.4 percent. Despite competitive conditionsin al of the markets the
corporation serves, each operating company's sales increased over the prior year. The most significant revenue improvements occurred
inthe OEM segment of the corporation, comprised of the Automotive Products and Electrical Products companies, and provided
almost 93 percent of the increased revenues in 1995.

The corporation's gross profit marginin 1995 was 14.4 percent or onepercent and one half percent lower than the profit margins
experienced in 1994 and 1993, respectively. The reduced margin was due mostly to a series of one-timeunrelated occurrences at the
Automotive Products Company which more than offset the favorable influence of increased volume throughout the corporation.
During 1995, launch costs associated withseveral new product programs had an adverse impact on margins. The most significant
decline in margins occurred in the third quarter. Extremely heavy demand at the Automotive Products Company for light and heavy
truck products created unusual pressures on production schedules, particularly at the company's Milwaukee, Wisconsin facilities. The
impact of strong demand wasaccompanied by unprecedented hot weather as well aslabor- related inefficienciesin its Milwaukee
operations.

Automotive Products Company achieved record sales of $845.3 million in 1995 surpassing the previous year's record of $722.7
million by $122.6 million or 17 percent. Salesin 1993 were $606.3 million. The record- setting sales performance was especialy
encouraging considering it was achieved in a domestic automotive market for light vehicles that decreased by approximately three
percent from the prior year. Automotive continues to benefit from providing full frame assembliesand other products associated with
popular models within thelight truck segment. Most of the 1995 sales increase was attributable to recent new product programs which
supply the expanding sport utility market. Demand within the heavy truck market remained strong in 1995 and resulted in record sales
for the Automotive heavy truck operations.

Automotive'strend of increasing earnings which commenced in 1991 was curtailed in 1995 as operating profits wereless than 1994.
The impact of the aforementioned product launch costs, record summer heat, unprecedented product demand, and labor contract issues
presented an obstacle that could not be overcome by the increased volume.

Automotive anticipates that 1996 earnings will benefit fromthe recently ratified, four-year labor agreement. The new contract should
resolve labor productivity issueswhich negatively affected 1995. Automotive's aggressive efforts to expand its presence in thelight
truck/sport utility market, as evidenced by several new product launches and redesign programs, and the forecast of a modest recovery
inlight vehicle salesin 1996 should also prove beneficial. The company will be confronted by costs related to the start-up of two new
regiona assembly plants in 1996 and will be further challenged by the costs associated with new products and redesign programs.

The corporation's 40 percent owned Mexican affiliate, Metalsa, S.A., experienced a very good year. Equity in earnings was $3.4
million in 1995 compared to $1.6 million and $2.3 million in 1994 and 1993, respectively.

A significant portion of Metalsa's sales arefor the export market and are denominated in U.S. dollars. Dueto increased export
shipments and a lower cost structure reflecting the benefits of realigned operations, the affiliate's results compare positively to 1994.
Total sales asexpressed in dollars were down from 1994 levelsas an increase in dollar- denominated export sales was not sufficient to
offset the decline in domestic sales.

In 1994, Metalsa's saleswere approximately the sameas the prior year. Earnings in 1994 were lower than 1993 due to restructuring
and product launch costs. In 1995, atranslation loss of $.5 million was incurred and reflected in earnings. Due to the declinein the
value of the peso, in late 1994, the corporation recorded atranslation adjustment of $7.5 million in stockholders equity. There wereno
similar adjustments in 1993, as the value of the peso was fairly constant.

Electrical Products Company salesin 1995 increased $36.1 million or almost 13 percent to arecord $317.3 million from 1994 sales of
$281.2 million. Salesin 1993 were $242.5 million. The company's major motor markets continued to expand in 1995 although the
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growth exhibited was not as strong as was experienced in 1994. While much of theincreased volume in 1994 was due to low finished
goods levels at which many motor marketsentered 1994, theincreased volumein 1995 was the result of obtaining incremental share in
several market segments. Strong global demand for compressors bolstered hermetic motor sales significantly in 1995. The company's
position asalow-cost producer of fractional horsepower fan motors and arevitalized domestic heating, ventilation, and air
conditioning industry resulted in a double-digit percentage increase over the prior year's sales in this segment. The company's
continued focused penetration of the international marketsprovided a 50 percent increase in export salesin 1995. Salesinto the motor
aftermarket increased significantly in 1995 due to new merchandising strategies and favorable alignment with several key wholesale
distributors.

Profits for the Electrical Products Company in 1995 demonstrated substantial improvement from arelatively good earnings year
experienced in 1994. Theincrease in 1994 earnings over thosein 1993 resulted from thetransfer of production to the company'slower
cost facilitieswhich occurred in 1993. During 1995, the company continued its successful strategy of concentrating manufacturing
activitiesin themost efficient plant locations. Additionally, the company upgraded capital equipment in al of its plant locations
resulting in further productivity gains. This combination of significantly higher volumes, concentration of production inlow cost
facilities, and improved technology was responsible for the increased earnings in 1995.

Electrical Productsis positioned to surpass 1995's strong performance in 1996 assuming itsability to retain newly acquired market
share and continued strong market conditions entering the new year.

Sales for theWater Products Company were$276.0 million in 1995, increasing slightly from $271.5 million in 1994 and establishing a
record for the fourth consecutive year. Sales in 1993 were $248.1 million. While sales of residential water heaters in 1994 benefitted
from a shift in demand to the fourth quarter of that year due to an announced price increase effective as of January 1, 1995, salesin
early 1995 were adversely impacted. In contrast to theresidential inventory situation, the commercial water heater industry entered
1995 with low inventory levels. Demand for commercia products in 1995 rebounded from the depressed levelsexperienced in 1994.
The combination of low inventory levelsat the start of the year and an expanded market, coupled with Water Products strong position
in the wholesale channels and broad commercia product offering resulted in a significant gainin market share in 1995.

Although total sales increased only modestly in 1995, earnings for the Water Products Company were seven percent higher than 1994
and also established arecord for thefourth consecutive year. The increased volume of the higher-margin commercial product more
than offset the adverse impact of lower volume and pricing for residential water heaters.

Water Products anticipates that 1996 will provide further growthin salesas the residential market returns to more normal growth
patterns and our Chinesejoint venture begins operations.

Smith Fiberglass Products Inc. 1995 sales of $58.6 million were modestly higher than 1994 salesof $57.9 million and dlightly less
than therecord sales of $58.9 million established in 1993. While sales were at levels comparable to the prior two years, the mix among
the company's various marketswas substantially different. Sales of fiberglass pipe to service stations in 1995 were significantly lower
than 1994 and were at thelowest levels in three years. This declinein the petroleum marketing segment was caused by a significant
slowdown in construction, poor weather early in theyear, and loss of market shareto flexible hose products. Salesto the chemical and
industrial market increased over the prior two years as fiberglass pipe continues to gain acceptance as an aternativeto itsiron and
steel counterparts. Shipmentsto the domestic petroleum production industry showed improvement during the second half of 1995 asa
result of stable oil prices. Strong export sales to South American oil fields also helped offset declinesin the petroleum marketing
segment.

Earnings for Fiberglass Products in 1995 werelower than the previoustwo years. The higher concentration of sales in thecompany's
lower-margin product lines wasa major cause of the earnings decline. Additional costs associated with establishing ajoint venturein
China, aswell as other new marketing initiatives, also affected 1995 earnings.

Fiberglass Products' projections for 1996 reflect animprovement in earnings, however areturn to the record earnings level of 1993 is
not expected. Most of the growth will come from new corrosion resistant product offerings to the chemical and industrial market, an
increased presence in theinternational market, and additional export shipments.

Revenues for the corporation’s other operations were $47.6 million in 1995, an increase of $7.4 million and $9.5 million over 1994
and 1993, respectively. Sales in 1995 for A. O. Smith Harvestore Products, Inc. (Harvestore), were $40.6 million, an 8.7 percent
increase over 1994 and the highest total since 1984. The major growth in sales occurred in the municipal and industrial segment of the
business where arecord for unit volume was established in 1995. Harvestore's agricultural business exhibited mixed resultsin 1995 as
sales of its newest chain unloader increased 25 percent over 1994 while sales of Slurrystore structures declined after five years of
volume growth. Earnings in 1995 for Harvestore were much improved over both 1994 and 1993 as a result of higher volume.
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To further expand opportunities in themunicipal andindustrial storage market the corporation acquired Peabody TecTank Inc. from
the Pullman Company, Inc. in December 1995. TecTank isamanufacturer of bolted steel tanks and shop welded steel, stainless stedl,
and aluminumtanks. TecTank had sales of $49 million in fiscal 1995 and will more than double the corporation's presencein the
storage tank market. Sales and earnings since the acquisition of this wholly owned subsidiary have been included in the Other Products
segment of the corporation and were not significant to 1995 results.

Revenues for AgriStor Credit Corporation were$2.8 million, $2.9 million, and $4.8 million in 1995, 1994, and 1993, respectively.
The trend of decreasing revenues is reflective of management'sdesire to liquidate this finance subsidiary. Interest costs and
administrative expenses have declined consistently throughout theliquidation process. The costs associated with non-performing
contracts weresignificantly lessin 1995 than 1994, thereby reducing the loss incurred in 1995.

Management is encouraged by the fact that the Other Products segment of the corporation has gone froma net after tax loss of $.17 per
share in both 1994 and 1993 to break-evenin 1995. The future for this segment of the corporation has improved substantially with the
aforementioned TecTank acquisition increasing penetration of the storage tank market as well as providing an expanded international
presence with several foreign sales offices.

Selling, generd, and administrative (SGA) expense for the corporation in 1995 was $113.0 million compared to $108.3 million and
$96.3 millionin 1994 and 1993, respectively. The majority of the increase during this period was caused by higher employee incentive
and profit sharing provisions, increased commissions, and other expenses in support of additional sales volume. The amount of
increase in SGA in 1995 was substantially lessthan 1994 due to asignificant reduction in the amount of bad debt expenditures and
re-marketing costs associated with repossessed equipment incurred by AgriStor Credit Corporation. Asa percent of sales, selling,
general, and administrative expenses have declined steadily from 8.1 percent in 1993 to 7.3 percent in 1995.

Interest expense increased $1.0 million in 1995 to $13.1 million from $12.1 million in 1994. Interest expense in 1993 was$13.4
million. The increase in interest expensein 1995 reflected higher average interest rates. The decline in interest expense from 1993 to
1994 wasa function of lower debt levels.

The corporation's effective incometax rate decreased to 37.9 percent in 1995 from 38.3 percent and 41 percent in 1994 and 1993,
respectively. The dight declinein ratein 1995 was caused primarily by lower state income and franchise tax provisions and tax
benefits associated withthe corporation's newly created foreign sales corporation. The relatively high rate in 1993 wasdue to theone
percent federal rate increase including the cumulative impact on prior years.

In thefourth quarter of 1995, the Automotive Products Company, Water Products Company, and Smith Fiberglass Products Inc. each
established ajoint venture in the People's Republic of China. The companies and their partnersare in the process of making the
required initial investments. When all the capital contributions and shareholder 1oans have been made,

A.O. Smith Corporation will hold a majority interestin each venture.

In March 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assetsand for Long- Lived Assetsto Be Disposed Of," which requiresimpairment lossesto be recorded onlong-lived assetsused in
operations when indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are
lessthan the assets carrying amount. Statement No. 121 also addressesthe accounting for long-lived assets that are expected to be
disposed of. The corporation will adopt Statement No. 121 in the first quarter of 1996 and, based on current circumstances, does not
believe the effect of adoption will be material.

The corporation has applied Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees’, in accounting
for its stock option plans. No decision has been reached as to how the corporation will apply, beginning in 1996, recently issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, which permitsthe corporation to
continue accounting for stock options in the same manner with fair value disclosures or measure compensation cost by thefair value of
stock optionsgranted.

The corporation entered 1995 with the aggressive objective of establishing record earnings for thethird consecutive year. The goal
was achieved, as net earningsin 1995 were $61.4 million or $2.94 per share surpassing the previous record of $57.3 million or $2.75
per share earned in 1994. The corporation earned $42.7 million or $2.08 per sharein 1993. The record- setting performance in 1995
was accomplished despite the challenges presented by weather issues, union contract negotiations, and volatile Mexican economic
conditions.

The corporation is committed to extending itsstring of record-setting performances in 1996. Achieving thisgoa will require
successfully contending with a new set of challenges including: start-up of the Chinesejoint ventures and two regional assembly
facilities for Automotive Products Company; integration of the recently acquired Peabody TecTank business; and the introduction of

[T S— .
E=amas EDGARSr 9002, EDGAR Online. Inc.




new product programs throughout the corporation.

ITEM 8 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
| NDEPENDENT AUDI TORS

The Board of Directors and
St ockhol der s
A. O Smith Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of A. O. Smith Corporation as of December 31, 1995 and 1994 and the
related consolidated statements of earnings and retained earnings and cash flowsfor each of thethree yearsin the period ended
December 31, 1995. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index in ltem

14(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the corporation's management. Our responsibility isto express
an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that weplan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financia statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on atest basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuresin thefinancia statements. An audit also includes

ng the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basisfor our opinion.

In our opinion, the financia statementsreferred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financia position of
A. O. Smith Corporation at December 31, 1995 and 1994, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flowsfor each of
the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 1995, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statementstaken as awhole,
presentsfairly in al material respectsthe information set forth therein.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
January 16, 1996
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Decenber 31 (dollars in thousands)
Asset s
Current Assets
Cash and cash equival ents
Trade receivabl es
Fi nance subsidiary receivabl es and | eases
Cust oner tooling
I nventories
Deferred incone taxes
Q her current assets

Total Current Assets

Investnents in and advances to affiliated
conpani es

Def erred nodel change

Fi nance subsi diary receivabl es and | eases
O her assets

Net property, plant, and equi pnent

Total Assets

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade payabl es
Accrued payroll and benefits
Postretirement benefit obligation
Accrued liabilities
I ncone taxes
Long-term debt due within one year
Fi nance subsidiary |ong-term debt due
wi thin one year

Total Current Liabilities

Long-term debt

Fi nance subsidiary |ong-term debt
Postretirenment benefit obligation
Product warranty

Deferred incone taxes

Oher liabilities

Total Liabilities
Conmi tments and conti ngenci es
(notes 7 and 13)
Mnority interests in joint ventures

St ockhol ders' Equity

Preferred Stock

C ass A Conmon Stock (shares issued
5, 888, 601 and 6, 035, 541)

Conmon St ock (shares issued
15, 811, 049 and 15, 664, 109)

Capital in excess of par val ue

Ret ai ned ear ni ngs

Cunul ative foreign currency
transl ati on adjustnents

(8,035)

Pension liability adjustnent
(9, 653)

Treasury stock at cost
(8, 085)

Total Stockholders' Equity

Total Liabilities and

1995 1994
$ 5,694 $ 8,485
165, 924 132, 630
13, 449 16, 361
30, 799 24, 489
103, 540 110, 863
17, 542 28, 100
15, 537 8, 592
352, 485 329, 520
21, 577 17, 326
25, 246 18, 638
26, 950 37, 842
79, 305 42,751
447, 355 401, 780
$ 952,918 $ 847,857
$ 112, 645 $ 112, 940
47,763 49, 289
7,837 9,573
37, 964 34, 806
2,505 2, 060
3,925 3,775
1, 008 3, 480
213, 647 215, 923
167, 139 136, 769
23, 799 29, 357
74, 799 72, 388
16, 658 15, 089
63, 239 54, 445
15, 297 11, 141
574, 578 535, 112
5,976 .-
29, 443 30, 178
15, 811 15, 664
68, 871 68, 209
273, 751 224, 467
(7, 499)
(8,013)
372, 364 312, 745

St ockhol der s&&umuss eGaRpre 2002. EDGAR Onl $he952, 918 $ 847, 857




See accompanying notes which are an integral part of these statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Y ears ended December 31 (dollars in thousands,

except per share ampunts)
Ear ni ngs

Net revenues

1995

1994

$1, 544,770 $1, 373,546

Cost of products sold 1, 321,591
Gross profit 223,179
Selling, general, and
adm ni strative expenses 113,018
I nterest expense 13,093
Q her expense - net 3,546
93, 522
Provision for incone taxes 35, 473
Earni ngs before equity in
earnings of affiliated
conpani es 58, 049
Equity in earnings of
affiliated conpani es 3,364
Net Earni ngs 61, 413
Ret ai ned Earni ngs
Bal ance at begi nning of year 224, 467
Cash dividends on common stock (12, 129)
(12, 200)
Bal ance at End of Year $273, 751
Net Earni ngs Per Common Share $2.94

See accompanying notes which are an integral part of these statements.

1,162, 096

177, 543

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Y ears ended December 31 (dollars in thousands)

B rara EDGARpra
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1993

$1, 193, 870
1, 015, 397



Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Net earni ngs
Adjustnents to reconcile net
earni ngs to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreci ation
Deferred incone taxes
Deferred i ncome taxes
(22,928)
Equity in earnings of affiliated
conpani es, net of dividends

1995
$ 61, 413

55, 701
14, 987
14, 296

(3, 364)

Def erred nodel change and software

anortization
Net change in current assets
and liabilities
(1, 310)
Net change in noncurrent assets
and liabilities
Q her

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flow from I nvesting Activities
Capital expenditures
(54, 703)
Purchase of subsidiary
Def erred nodel change expenditures
(1, 586)
Q her
(562)

Cash Used by Investing Activities
(56, 851)

Cash Fl ow before Financing Activities

Cash Fl ow from Fi nanci ng Activities
Long-term debt incurred
Long-term debt retired

(53, 020)

Fi nance subsidiary net |ong-term
debt retired

(21, 417)

Net proceeds from common stock
and option activity

Tax benefit from exercise of
stock options

Joi nt ventures partners'
contributions

Di vi dends pai d

(12, 200)

Cash Provided (Used) by
Fi nanci ng Activities
(52, 623)

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equival ents

Cash and cash equival ent s- -
begi nni ng of year

Cash and Cash Equival ents--End of Year

B rara EDGARpra 2002.

11, 238
(28, 422)

4,938
(975)

(91, 001)

(18, 000)
(13, 619)

(6, 739)
(129, 359)
(13, 843)

65, 000
(34, 480)

(8, 030)

EDGAR Onl i ne,

1994
$ 57, 347

49, 160
14, 296
11, 800
(751)
8,078
(29, 415)

13,401
7, 357

(84, 753)

34,720

(17, 126)

(14, 484)

1,764

2,132

(10, 423)

(3, 417)
11, 902

I nc.

1993
$ 42,678

42, 607
11, 800

516

9, 080

58, 500

30, 000

1, 787

2,227



See accompanying notes which are an integral part of these statements.
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization. A.O. Smith Corporation isadiversified manufacturer serving customersworld-wide. The corporation's magjor product
linesinclude: automotive structural components; fractional horsepower and hermetic electric motors; residential and commercial water
heaters; fiberglass piping systemsand water, waste water, and dry storage tanks. The corporation's products are marketed primarily in
North America. The mgjor automotive manufacturers and other origina equipment manufacturers arethe largest customers of the
automotive and electrical products units. Water heaters are distributed through a diverse network of plumbing wholesalers. Fiberglass
piping is sold through a network of distributors to the service station market and the petroleum production industry aswell as the
chemical/industrial market. The corporation's storage tanks and handling systems are sold through a network of dealers to
municipalities, industrial concerns, and farmers.

Consolidation and basis of presentation. The consolidated financial statementsinclude the accounts of the corporation andits
wholly-owned subsidiaries and majority owned joint ventures.

Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statementsin conformity withgenerally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in thefinancial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual resultscould differ fromthose estimates.

Foreign currency trandation. For al subsidiaries outside the United States with the exception of entitiesin Mexico, the corporation
uses thelocal currency as the functional currency. For these operations, assets and liabilitiesare trandated into U.S. dollars at year-end
exchange rates and weighted average exchange rates are used for revenues and expenses. The resulting trand ation adjustments are
recorded as aseparate component of stockholders' equity. Gainsand losses from foreign currency transactions are included in net
earnings. For the corporation's Mexican affiliate and subsidiaries, the U.S. dollar is used as thefunctiona currency. Accordingly, cash
and certain other monetary assets and liabilities, such asreceivables and payables, and revenues and expenses are trandated into U.S.
dollars using current exchange rates. Inventories and nonmonetary assets, such asfixed assets, are trandated into U.S. dollarsusing
historical exchangerates. The resulting trandation adjustments and gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are reflected in
net earnings.

Inventory valuation. Inventories are carried at lower of cost or market. Costis determined on the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method for a
significant portion of domestic inventories. Inventories of foreign subsidiaries and supplies are determined usingthe first-in, first-out
(FIFO) method.

Derivativeinstruments. The corporation enters into futures contracts to fix thecost of certain raw materia purchases, principally
copper and aluminum, withthe objective of minimizing cost risk due to market fluctuations. Any differences between the corporation's
fixed price and current market prices are included as part of theinventory cost when the contracts mature. As of December 31, 1995,
the corporation had contracts covering the majority of its expected copper and aluminum requirements for 1996, with varying
maturitiesin 1996, the longest duration of whichis December 1996. These futures contracts limit theimpact from both favorable and
unfavorable price changes.

Asaresult of having various foreign operations, the corporation is exposed to the effect of foreign currency rate fluctuations on the
U.S. dallar value of its foreign subsidiaries. Further, the corporation and its subsidiaries conduct businessin various foreign currencies.
To minimizethe effect of fluctuating foreign currencies onits income, the corporation entersinto foreign currency forward contracts.
The contracts are used to hedge known foreign currency transactions on a continuing basis for periods consistent with the corporation's
EXPOSUres.

The corporation does not engagein speculation. The difference between market and contract ratesis recognized in the same period in
which gains or losses from thetransactions being hedged are recognized. The contracts, which are executed with major financial
institutions, generally mature within one year and no credit loss is anticipated for failure of the counterparties to perform.

The following table summarizes, by currency, the corporation's forward exchange contracts.
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Decenber 31 (dollars in thousands) 1995 1994

Buy Sel | Buy

Sel |

U.S. dollars $ 3,102 $  -- $ 2,400 $
3, 840

British pounds 4,659 -- 4,489

Canadi an doll ars 5, 454 - - 5,714

French franc - - 1, 483 - -
2,591

Cerman deut sche nark 329 3,208 --
3, 587

Italian lira - - 992 3,801

Mexi can peso 3,808 -- 17,418

Tot al $17, 352 $ 5,683 $33, 822

$10, 018

The contracts in place at December 31, 1995 and 1994 amounted to approximately 35 and 58 percent, respectively, of the
corporation's anticipated subsequent year exposure for those currencies hedged.

Property, plant, and equipment. Property, plant, and equipment arestated at cost. Depreciation is computed primarily by the
straight-line method.

Deferred model change. Tool costs not reimbursed by customers and expenses associated with significant model changes are
amortized over the estimated model life which ranges fromfour to tenyears, with the shorter periods associated with automobile
structural components and the longer periods associated with structural components for trucks.

Finance subsidiary. Finance chargesfor retail contracts receivable arerecognized as income as installments become due using the
interest method. For direct finance leases, incomeis recognized based upon a constant rate of return on the unrecovered lease
investment over the term of the related lease.

Revenue recognition. The corporation recognizes revenue upon shipment of product to the customer.

Research and devel opment. Research and devel opment costs are charged to expense as incurred and amounted to approximately $9.7,
$9.2, and $7.6 million during 1995, 1994, and 1993, respectively.

Earnings per share of common stock. Earnings per common share are computed using the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the year. The effect of sharesissuable under stock compensation plans is not significant.

Reclassifications. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 1995 presentation.
2. Acquisition and Joint Ventures

On December 6, 1995, the corporation acquired the stock of Peabody TecTank Inc. (TecTank), a manufacturer of environmental bulk
storage tanks, for approximately $18 million, subject to final adjustment of the purchase price. The transaction hasbeen accounted for
as a purchase and the consolidated financial statements includethe results of TecTank from the date of acquisition. The purchase price
has been allocated to the assets purchased and the liabilities assumed based upon therespective fair valuesat the date of acquisition.
The excess of the purchase price over thefair valuesof net assetsacquired has been recorded as goodwill and will be amortized over
15 years. The allocation is preliminary pending completion of an appraisal. The proformaeffect of this acquisition would not be
significant to either 1995 or 1994 operating results.
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In thefourth quarter of 1995, the corporation established threejoint ventures in the People's Republic of China. The corporation and
its partners arein the process of making their initial investments. When the ventures are completed, the corporation will hold a
majority interest in each. In 1995, the corporation's partners contributed to the ventures non-cash assets valued at approximately $5.4
million. The balance sheet accounts of the ventures are included in the consolidated financial statementswith the corporation's
partners pro rata share of the net assets reflected as minority interest. Once operations begin, the operating results will be reflected in
the Consolidated Statement of Earningsto theextent of the corporation's ownership.

3. Statement of Cash Flows

For purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalentsinclude investments withoriginal maturities of
three months or less. Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:

Y ears ended December 31
(dollars in thousands) 1995 1994 1993

Change in current assetsand liabilities:

Trade receivabl es and cust oner

tooling $(31, 379) $(15, 131)

$( 35, 008)
Fi nance subsidiary receivables 2,912 2,790 529
Inventories 10, 657 (21, 059)

(17, 054)
O her current assets (3,976) 6, 180

(5, 297)
Trade payabl es (5, 385) 1, 833 37,214
Accrued liabilities, payroll
and benefits 3,138 (972) 16, 274
Current income tax accounts-net (4, 389) (3,056) 2,032

$(28, 422) $(29,415) $

(1, 310)

4, I nventories

Decenber 31 (dollars in thousands) 1995 1994
Fi ni shed products $ 53,788 $ 55,331
Wirk in process 44, 806 48, 886
Raw materi al s 41, 968 41, 709
Suppl i es 9, 067 7, 457

Al | onance to state inventories at LIFO cost

5. Investmentsin and Advances to Affiliated Companies

Investmentsin affiliates in which ownership is 50 percent or less are accounted for under the equity method. The corporation's equity
in the undistributed earnings of such affiliates at December 31, 1995, amounted to approximately $21.5 million. In 1995, because the
Mexican affiliate's sales, financing, and certain costs are now primarily U.S. dollar denominated, the corporation changed the
functional currency for foreign currency trandlation purposes fromthe Mexican peso to theU.S. dollar. In 1994, due to the declinein
the value of the Mexican peso, the corporation recorded asa component of stockholders equity, trandation adjustments of
approximately $7.5 million. During 1994 and 1993, the corporation received dividends of $.8 and $2.8 million, respectively, from
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such affiliates.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Decenber 31 (dollars in thousands) 1995
1994
Land $ 10,099 $
7,527
Bui | di ngs 200, 844
186, 320
Equi pnent 764, 899
687, 870

975, 842
881, 717
Less accunul ated depreci ation 528, 487
479, 937

Interest on borrowed funds during construction of $.5, $.8, and $1.1 million was capitalized in 1995, 1994, and 1993, respectively.

7. Long-Term Debt and Lease Commitments
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Decenber 31 (dollars in thousands) 1995
1994

Bank credit lines, average year-end
interest rate of 6.6%for 1995 and
7.1% for 1994 $ 8,135 $

15, 308

Conmer ci al paper, average year-end
interest rate of 5.9% for 1995

and 1994 43, 345
71,577
8. 75% not es, payabl e annually

t hrough 1997 7,125
10, 700

Long-term notes, expiring through

Novenber 2000 average year-end

interest rate of 6.3%for 1995

and 6.4% for 1994 17, 500
12,500

Long-term notes, expiring through

2010, average year-end interest

rate of 7.0% for 1995 and 6. 8% 1994 90, 000
30, 000

O her notes, expiring through 2012,
average year-end interest rate of

6.8% for 1995 and 6.9% for 1994 29, 766
33, 296
195, 871
173, 381
Less anount due within one year 4,933
7,255
$190, 938
$166, 126

In June 1995, the corporation's multi-year revolving credit agreement witha group of ten banks was increased from $140 million to
$160 million and extended to June 30, 2000. The amended agreement carries lower feesand borrowing costs. During 1995, the
corporation borrowed $5 million with afive year term from one of the banks. At its option, the corporation maintains either cash
balances or paysfees for bank credit and services.

In 1993, the corporation entered into two loan facilities with insurance companies totaling $65 million. Through the expiration of these
facilities in 1995, the corporation had drawn down $45 million under termsranging from ten to thirteen years.

In 1995, the corporation entered into two new loan facilities withinsurance companies totaling $125 million. Through December 31,
1995, the corporation had drawn down, under termsranging from ten to fifteen years, $45 million under these facilities.

The corporation's credit agreement and term loans contain certain conditions and provisions which restrict the corporation's payment
of dividends. Under the most restrictive of these provisions, retained earnings of $107.3 million wereunrestricted as of December 31,
1995.
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Borrowings under the bank credit lines and in the commercia paper market are supported by the revolving credit agreement and have
been classified as long-term. It has been the corporation's practice to renew or replace the credit agreement so as to maintain the
availability of debt onalong- term basis andto provide 100 percent backup for its borrowingsin the commercial paper market.

Long-term debt, maturing within each of the five years subsequent to December 31, 1995, is as follows: 1996--$4.9; 1997--$12.0;
1998--$12.2; 1999--$8.1; 2000--$9.9 million.

The corporation has an agreement to sell, without recourse and at market rates, up to $50 million of certain automotive-related
receivables. The corporation sold receivables totaling $41.0 million at December 31, 1995, compared to $27.5 million at December
31, 1994. The receivables sale program is scheduled to expire on November 28, 1996, unless mutually extended.

Future minimum payments under noncancel able operating leases total $113.4 million and are due as follows: 1996--$24.7;
1997--$22.5; 1998--$20.7; 1999--$16.2; 2000--$7.5; thereafter--$21.8 million. Rent expense, including payments under operating
leases, was $31.4, $30.8, and $28.2 million in 1995, 1994, and 1993, respectively.

Interest paid by the corporation, was $13.1, $13.3, and $14.0 million in 1995, 1994, and 1993, respectively.
8. Stockholders Equity

On April 5, 1995, the corporation's stockholders approved an increase in the authorized shares of Class A Common Stock $5 par value
from 7 million shares to 14 million shares and in the authorized shares of Common Stock $1 par value from 24 million sharesto 60
million shares. The Common Stock has equal dividend rights with Class A Common Stock and is entitled, as a class, to elect 25
percent of theboard of directors and has 1/10th vote per shareon all other matters. As of December 31, 1995, there arealso 3 million
shares of preferred stock $1 par value authorized.

On February 1, 1993, the Board of Directors declared a special $.25 per sharedividend to holders of Common Stock. No specia
dividend was declared on the Class A Common Stock. During 1993, 2,009,683 shares of Class A Common Stock, including 623,362
sharesheld in Treasury, wereconverted into Common Stock. Anadditional 146,940 and 49,304 shares of Class A Common Stock
were converted into Common Stock during 1995 and 1994, respectively. Regular dividends paid on the Class A Common and
Common Stock amounted to $.58, $.50, and $.42 per sharein 1995, 1994, and 1993, respectively.

Changes in certain components of stockholders equity are as follows:
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Class A
Common
St ock

Common
St ock

(dollars in
t housands)

Bal ance at

Decenber 31, 1992 $25, 197 $5, 767
Conver si on of

C ass A Conmon
St ock (10, 048) 2,010
Exerci se of stock

options (net of

21, 200 shares

surrendered as

stock option

pr oceeds --

(1, 267)

43

Pur chase of
treasury shares -- --

Tax benefit
from exerci se
of stock options -- -

Two- f or - one
stock split 15, 275 7,795

Bal ance at
Decenber 31, 1993 30, 424 15, 615
Conver si on of

Cl ass A Conmon
St ock 49
Exerci se of

stock options

(net of 4,845

shares surrendered

as stock option

pr oceeds -- --
(1, 835)

Tax benefit

from exercise

of stock

opti ons -- --

Bal ance at
Decenber 31, 1994 30, 178 15, 664
Conver si on of

Cl ass A Common
St ock 147
Exerci se of

stock options

(net of 3,400

shares surrendered

as stock option

pr oceeds) -- --
(72)

Tax benefit
from exerci se
of stock L rara EDGARpra

Capital in
Excess of
Par Val ue

$78, 009

7,746

1, 056

2,227

(23, 088)

65,950 1,

197

(70)

68, 209

588

(22)

I nc.

Treasury Stock

Shar es Armount

623, 362 $10, 918

(183, 300)

5,930 269

012, 784 9,920

(218, 755)

794, 029 8, 085

(13, 000)

. 2002.
opti ons -- --

Bal ance at

Necenber 21 1005 €20 AA4AR 15 Q11

EDGAR Onli ne,
90

RAQ Q71

791 0N?290



In 1993, 5,930 shares of treasury stock were acquired under a purchase offer made to holders of lessthan 100 shares of Class A
Common Stock and Common Stock.

At December 31, 1995, 3,460 and 777,569 shares of Class A Common Stock and Common Stock, respectively, were held as treasury
stock.

9. Stock Options

During 1990, the corporation adopted a Long-Term Executive |ncentive Compensation Plan (1990 Plan) whichinitially reserved 1
million shares of Common Stock for granting of nonqualified and incentivestock options. In April 1994, shareholders approved a
proposal to reserve an additional 1 million shares of Common Stock for the 1990 plan. In addition, the corporation has a Long-Term
Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (1980 Plan) which hasterminated except as to outstanding options. Options under both plans
become exercisable one year from date of grant and, for active employees, expire ten years after date of grant. The number of shares
available for granting of options at December 31, 1995 and 1994 was 470,500 and 659,600, respectively.

Changes in option shares (all Common Stock) wereas follows:

Years ended Decenber 31 1995 1994 1993
Qut st andi ng at begi nning of year 963, 600 1, 009, 800 1, 184, 200
G anted

1995--$23. 125 and $25.00 per share 189, 100

1994- - $21. 563 and $25.81 per share 177, 400

1993--$27.50 per share 188, 400
Exer ci sed

1995--$7.00 to $8.00 per share (16, 400)

1994--$7.00 to $13.00 per share (223, 600)

1993--%$6. 375 to $15.188 per share
(362, 800)
Cancel ed or expired (11, 700) -- --
Qut standing at End of Year

(1995--%$7.00 to $27.50 per share) 1, 124, 600 963, 600 1, 009, 800
Exerci sabl e at Decenber 31, 1995 __§§§T§66 ________________

The corporation has applied Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees’, in accounting
for its stock option plans. No decision has been reached as to how the corporation will apply, beginning in 1996, recently issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, which permits the corporation to
continue accounting for stock options in the same manner with fair value disclosures or measure compensation cost by thefair value of
stock optionsgranted.

10. Retirement Plans

The corporation and its domestic subsidiaries provide retirement benefits for all employees. Asof December 31, 1995, the corporation
merged its various qualified noncontributory defined benefit plansin the United States into one pension plan. Benefits for salaried
employees are based on an employee's years of service and compensation. Benefits for hourly employees are generally based on years
of service. The corporation's funding policy isto contribute amounts which are actuarially determined to provide sufficient assets to
meet future benefit payment requirements consistent with the funding requirements of federal lawsand regulations. Plan assets consist
primarily of marketable equities and debt securities. The corporation also has several foreign pension plans, none of which are material
to the corporation's financial position.

The following tables present the components of pension expense, the funded status, and the major assumptions used to determine these
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amounts for domestic pension plans:

Y ears ended December 31 (dollars in thousands)

1995
Conponent s of pension
expense:

Servi ce cost--
benefits earned
during the year

Interest cost on
proj ected benefit
obligation

Return on plan assets:
Actual return $(112, 130)
Deferral of

i nvestnent return

i n excess of

(1l ess than)

expected return 74,948

$ 6,062

31, 340

(33, 125)

Net anortization and
deferra

Net peri odi ¢ pension
expense (incone)

December 31 (dollars in thousands)

[¥E R 'Fr.'..'.'n.-‘u'l EDGARpra

2002.

1994

$ 1,748

(37, 180)

EDGAR Onl i ne,

1993

$ 6,759 $ 6,261

27,111 27,400

$(42, 270)

I nc.




1995 1994
Asset s Asset s Accunul at ed
Exceed Exceed Benefits
Accunul at ed Accunul at ed Exceed
Benefits Benefits Asset s
Actuarial present value
of benefit obligations:
Vested benefit obligation $384, 726 $145, 488 $166, 962
Accunul at ed benefit
obligation $432, 143 $155, 817 $198, 485
Proj ected benefit obligation $450, 577 $171, 074 $198, 694
Pl an assets at fair value 462, 093 219, 026 155, 924
Pl an assets in excess of
(less than) projected
benefit obligation 11, 516 47,952
(42,770)
Unrecogni zed net transition
(asset) obligation at
January 1, 1986 (5,192) (12, 053) 12, 316
Unrecogni zed net | oss 6, 310 3,189 16, 111
Prior service cost not yet
recogni zed in periodic
pensi on cost 29,404 3,641 9, 766
Adjustment required to recognize
mnimumliability/1 -- --
(37, 984)
Prepai d pensi on asset
(liability) $ 42,038 $ 42,729
$(42,561)

1/ The provisions of FAS No. 87, "Employers’ Accountingfor Pensions," require therecognition of an additional minimum liability
for each defined benefit plan for which the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds plan assets. Prior to December 31, 1995, this
amount was recorded asalong-term liability with an offsetting intangible asset. Becausethe asset recognized may not exceed the
amount of unrecognized prior service cost and transition obligation on anindividual plan basis, the balance, net of tax benefits, was
reported as a separate reduction of stockholders' equity at December 31, 1994. As theresult of themerger of thevarious planson
December 31, 1995, the corporation no longer has any underfunded plans.

Maj or assunptions at year-end:
1995 1994 1993
Di scount rate 7.50% 8. 50%
7.75%
Rate of increase in conpensation |evel 4.00% 4.50%
4.00%
Expected long-termrate of return on assets 10.25% 10. 25%
10. 25%

Net periodic pension cost is determined using the assumptions asof the beginning of theyear. The funded statusis determined using
the assumptionsas of theend of the year.

The corporation has adefined contribution profit sharing and retirement plan covering salaried nonunion employees which provides
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for annual corporate contributions of 35 percent to 140 percent of qualifying contributions made by participating employees. The
amount of the corporation's contribution in excess of 35 percent is dependent upon the corporation's profitability. The amount of the
contribution was $5.2, $5.2, and $4.0 million for 1995, 1994, and 1993, respectively.

Postretirement Benefits other than Pensions
The corporation has several unfunded defined benefit postretirement plans covering certain hourly and salaried employees which
provide medical and life insurance benefits from retirement to age 65. Salaried employees retiring after January 1, 1995 are covered by
an unfunded defined contribution plan with benefits based on years of service. Certain hourly employees retiring after January 1, 1996
will be subject to a maximum annual benefit limit. Salaried employees hired after December 31, 1993 arenot eligible for
postretirement medical benefits.

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost included thefollowing components:

Y ears ended December 31 (dollars in thousands)

1995 1994

1993
Service cost--benefits attributed to

enpl oyee service during the year $ 1,318 $ 1,847 $
1, 841
I nterest cost on accunul ated

postretirement benefit obligation 6, 948 7,477
6, 959
Anortization of unrecogni zed net

(gain) loss (132) 816
Net periodi c postretirenent

benefit cost $ 8,134 $10,140 $

8, 800

The following table setsforth the plans status as reflected in the consolidated balance shest:

Decenber 31 (dollars in thousands) 1995 1994
Accunul ated postretirement benefit obligation:
Retirees $44, 347 $51, 066
Fully eligible active plan participants 16, 255 12,724
O her active plan participants 32, 655 35, 333
93, 257 99, 123
Unrecogni zed net | oss (10, 621)
(17, 162)
Accrued postretirenent benefit cost $82, 636 $81, 961

The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the accumul ated postretirement benefit obligation (APBO) is6 percent. The
weighted average discount rate used in determining the APBO was 7.50 and 8.50 percent at December 31, 1995 and 1994,
respectively. If the health care cost trend rate wasincreased by 1 percent, the APBO at December 31, 1995 would increase by $3.7
million and net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 1995 would increase by $0.3 million.

11. Income Taxes
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The components of the provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

Y ears ended December 31 (dollars in thousands)

1995 1994 1993
Current:
Feder al $15, 405 $15, 470 $11, 208
State 2,955 4,095 1, 955
Forei gn 3, 753 2,384 3,109
Cumul ati ve effect of
rate change -- -- 836
Deferred 14, 340 14, 301 11, 297
Busi ness tax credits (980) (1, 543)
(281)
Provi sion for inconme taxes $35, 473 $34, 707 $28, 124

The tax provision differsfrom the statutory U.S. federal rate due to the followingitems:

Y ears ended December 31 (dollars in thousands)

1995 1994 1993

Provi sion at federal

statutory rate $32, 733 $31, 676 $23, 981
Cunul ative effect of

rate change -- -- 836
Forei gn incone taxes 389 245 637
State income and

franchi se taxes 3,392 3,996 3,056
Busi ness and foreign

tax credits (1, 445) (1,877)
(631)
Non- deductible itens 552 542 287
Forei gn sal es

corporation benefit (278) -- --
O her 130 125
(42)
Provi sion for incomne

t axes $35, 473 $34, 707 $28, 124

The domestic and foreign components of income from operations before income taxes were as follows:
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Years ended Decenber 31

(dollars in thousands) 1995 1994
1993
Donesti c $84, 127 $84, 358
$60, 407
For ei gn 9, 395 6, 145
8,111
$93, 522 $90, 503
$68, 518

Taxes paid amounted to $25.2, $21.7, and $12.2 million in 1995, 1994, and 1993, respectively.

No provision for U.S. income taxes has been made on the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as such earnings are
considered to be permanently invested. At December 31, 1995, the undistributed earnings amounted to $17.4 million. Itisnot practical
to determine theincome tax liability that would result had such earnings been repatriated.

No provision for U.S. income taxes has been made on the cumulative net tranglation gains and other itemsof equity investees. At

December 31, 1995, theamount of unrecognized U.S. tax liahility for thenet translation gains and other itemstotaling $9.8 million
amounted to $3.4 million.

The approximate tax effects of temporary differences between income tax andfinancial reporting areas follows:

December 31 (dollars in thousands)
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1995 1994
Assets Liabilities Asset s
Liabilities

Fi nance subsidiary | eases $ -- $ (7,278) $ --
$(13,717)

G oup health insurance and

postretirenent

obl i gati ons 37,951 -- 36, 484 --
Enpl oyee benefits 5,179 (15, 559) 4,128

(10, 122)

Product liability and

warranty 7,472 -- 8, 017 --
Bad debts 1,276 -- 4, 633 --
Tax over book depreciation -- (54, 026) --

(51, 474)

Def erred nodel change -- (13, 263) --

(11, 603)

Equity in affiliated

conpani es -- (3,416) --

(1, 336)

Tax carryforwards -- --
Al'l ot her -- (4,033) --
(952)

$(89, 204)

Net liability $(45, 697)
$( 26, 345)

These deferred tax assets and liahilitiesare classified in the balance sheet ascurrent or long-term based on the balance sheet
classification of therelated assets and liabilities. The balances are as follows:

Decenber 31 (dollars in thousands) 1995 1994
Current deferred incone tax assets $ 17,542 $ 28,100
Long-term deferred inconme tax liabilities (63, 239)

(54, 445)

Net liability $(45, 697)

$( 26, 345)

12. Agricultural Businesses

The corporation's strategic planisto concentrate its resources in nonagricultural businesses and withdraw from the agricultural market.

The strategy includes plansto sell the agricultural business andto phase out AgriStor Credit Corporation (AgriStor), a wholly-owned
finance subsidiary. It is not possible to predict when the sale of the agricultural business will occur. The corporation is continuing to

phase out AgriStor's operations in anorderly manner.

The corporation's consolidated balance sheet includes AgriStor. A condensed consolidated balance sheet of AgriStor is presented
below:

L4

FE s EDGARRS 2002, EDGAR Online, Inc.




Decenber 31 (dollars in thousands) 1995 1994

Asset s

Cash and cash equival ents $ 2,320 $ 2,636

Retail contracts receivable 19, 705 24, 396

Net investment in | eases 12, 149 17, 663

Equi prent avail able for resale 10, 733 23,739

Reserve for bad debts (2,189)

(10, 020)

O her assets 68 226
Total Assets $ 42,786 $ 58, 640
Liabilities and stockhol der's equity

Long-term debt due within one year $ 1,008 $ 3,480

Oher liabilities 9, 180 13, 573

Long-term debt 23,799 29, 357

St ockhol der' s equity 8, 799 12,230
Total Liabilities and Stockholder's Equity $ 42,786 $ 58, 640

AgriStor was the lessor of Harvestore equipment accounted for as direct financing leases. AgriStor is currently financing under retail
installment contracts a nominal amount of new and previously owned equipment. There isno quoted market price available for the
retail contracts and leases. Management believes fair value approximates book value. While some maturities extend beyond the year
2000, the portfolio is predominantly of threeto four year duration carrying an average interest rate of 7.7 percent.

The majority of AgriStor's financing needs are provided by the corporation. AgriStor Credit Corporation-Canada (AgriStor Canada)
had outstanding a $4.1 million Canadian dollar denominated note ($3.0 million U.S. dollar equivalent) with afinal maturity in 1998.
AgriStor Canada aso has a $10.0 million Canadian dollar denominated credit facility ($7.3 million U.S. dollar equivalent) to meetits
borrowing needs, none of which wasoutstanding at December 31, 1995. Long-term debt, excluding financing provided by the
corporation, maturing subsequent to December 31, 1995, is as follows.: 1996--$1.0; 1997--$1.0; 1998--$1.0; million.

A condensed consolidated statement of operations of AgriStor is presented below. The 1995 and 1994 statements of operations reflect
repossession and contract settlement costs that previously were not recognized until final disposition of repossessed structures.

Years Ended Decenber 31

(dollars in thousands) 1995 1994 1993
Revenues $ 2,789 $ 2,876 $ 4,783
I nterest expense 2,162 2,849 3,794
CGeneral and adm nistrative expenses 735 1, 696 2,951
Bad debt provision 2,600 4, 800 1, 750
Repossessi on costs 3,026 2,698 - -

Total expenses 8,523 12, 043 8, 495
Loss before incone taxes $ (5,734) $ (9, 167) $
(3,712)

The finance subsidiary provided cash before financing activities of $8.0, $14.5, and $21.4 millionin 1995, 1994, and 1993,
respectively.

13. Litigation and Insurance Matters
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Asof December 31, 1995, the corporation and A. O. SmithHarvestore Products, Inc. (Harvestore), a subsidiary of the corporation,
were defendantsin eight cases alleging damages for economic losses claimed to have arisen out of alleged defects in Harvestore
animal feed storage equipment. Some plaintiffs are seeking punitive as well as compensatory damages. The corporation believesthat a
significant number of these claimswere related to thedeteriorated general farm economy. In 1995, fifteen cases were concluded. The
corporation and Harvestore continue to vigorously defend these cases.

Two of theeight pending cases contain class action allegations. One of the cases isaNew Y ork state court action which names the
corporation, Harvestore, and two of its dealers asdefendants. The court hasdenied the plaintiffs motion to certify theclass and has
granted the defendants’ motions dismissing some of the plaintiffs allegations. The plaintiffs are appealing the court's rulings.

The second case is pending in the Federal District Court for the Southern District of Ohio. It wasfiled in August 1992 and the court, in
March 1994, conditionally certified it as a class action on behalf of purchasers and lessees of Harvestore structures manufactured by
the corporation and Harvestore. A noticeof the certification was mailed to the purported class membersin thethird quarter of 1994,
with approximately 5,500 "opt out" formsbeing filed with the court, theimpact of whichisunknown. The court canceled a previously
set trial date as aresult of motions the corporation filed seeking summary judgment or in the alternative decertification of the class.
The corporation is awaiting a ruling.

Based on the facts currently available to management and its prior experience with lawsuitsalleging damages for economic loss
resulting from use of the Harvestore animal feed storage equipment, management is confident that the class action suits can be
defeated and that thelawsuits do not represent a material threat to the corporation. The corporation believes that any damages,
including any punitivedamages, arising out of the pending cases are adequately covered by insurance and recorded reserves. No range
of reasonably possible losses can be estimated because in most instances the complaint is silent asto theamount of the claim or states
it as an unspecified amount in excess of thejurisdictional minimum. The corporation reevaluates its exposure periodically and makes
adjustment of its reserves as appropriate.

A lawsuit for damages and declaratory judgments in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, State of Wisconsin, in whichthe
corporation and Harvestore are plaintiffsis pending against three insurance companies for failure to pay in accordance with liability
insurance policiesissued to the corporation. The insurers have failed to pay, infull or part, certain judgments, settlements and defense
costsincurred in connection with pending and closed lawsuits alleging damages for economic losses claimed to have arisen out of
alleged defects in Harvestore animal feed storage equipment. While the corporation has, in part, assumed applicability of this
coverage, an adverse judgment should not be material to its financial condition.

The corporation isinvolved in other litigation and claimswhich arise in theordinary course of its businessincluding governmental
proceedings regarding the disposal of hazardous waste at sites which are in various stages of the remediation process. For some of the
sites, total costsfor remediation are not available because the final remedy has not been selected or for other reasons. Further, the
ultimate liability of the corporation, if any, has not been determined at all of thesites. As aresult, it isimpossible at thistimeto
estimate thetotal cost of remediation for all of the sites. The total estimated cleanup costsidentified at thistimefor all parties at all
sitesinvolving claims filed by the Environmental Protection Agency or similar state agencies wherethe corporation hasbeen
designated a potentially responsible party is approximately $293.4 million. The estimated portion of the total for which the corporation
isor may be responsible is approximately $7.3 million, of which$6.2 million has been contributed towards the cleanup costs by the
corporation and itsinsurance companies. The balance of the identified potential cleanup costs is covered by insurance and established
reserves set by the corporation which are believed to be adequate to cover the corporation’s obligations with respect to the unpaid
balance of theclaims. To the best of the corporation's knowledge, the insurers have the financial ability to pay any such covered claims
and the corporation has not incorporated any insurance proceeds in thecalculation of its reserves for which recovery isnot considered
probable. The corporation reevaluates its exposure periodically and makesadjustment of its reserves as appropriate.

In March 1992, asubsidiary of the corporation, Smith Fiberglass Products Inc. (Smith Fiberglass), won a patent infringement suit filed
against a competitor. A judgment was entered in favor of Smith Fiberglass. The judgment was appealed by the defendant. However,
the Court of Appeals affirmed the award and Smith Fiberglass recognized the judgment which amounted to $1.9 million after
recognition of legal fees asincomein the second quarter of 1993.

A lawsuit initiated by the corporation in connection with previously concluded antitrust action involving a former subsidiary was
terminated in the second quarter of 1993 with a favorable settlement of $2.8 million.

Over the past several years, the corporation has self-insured aportion of its product liability loss exposure and other business risks.
The corporation has established reserves which it believes are adequate to cover incurred claims. For theyear ended December 31,
1995, the corporation had $60 million of third-party product liability insurance for individual lossesin excess of $1.5 million and for
aggregate lossesin excess of $10 million.
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14. Operations by Segment

Years ended Decenber 31 (dollars in mllions)
Net Revenues/1 Ear ni ngs (Loss)
1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991

CEM Product s
Auto and truck structural

conponents, fractional

hor sepower, and hernetic

electric notors $1,162.6 $1,003.9 $ 848.8 $ 753.2 $ 631.2 $94.8  $92.2 $70. 2 $52.8 $12.0

Wat er Products
Water heaters and water
heating systens and protective
industrial coatings 276.0 271.5 248.1 215.2 194. 6 32.2 30.1 26.5 18. 2 11.0

Fi bergl ass Products
Fi bergl ass reinforced
pi ping systens 58.6 57.9 58.9 43.9 53.9 5.1 9.2 9.5 4.7 10.2

O her Products
Muni ci pal and
industrial storage systens,
agricultural feed storage
systens, and agricul tural
financing 47. 6 40. 2 38.1 34.0 36.1 .1 (5.8) (4.8) (4.5) (3.6)

$1,544.8 $1,373.5 $1,193.9 $1,046.3 $ 915.8 132.2 125.7 101. 4 71.2 29.6

General corporate and research

and devel opnent expense (27.8) (
I nterest expense/2 (10.9) (
Ear ni ngs Before Incone Taxes,

Equity in Earnings of Affiliated

Conpani es, and Cumul ative Effect

of Accounting Changes $93.5 $90.5 $68.5 $38.8 $ 2.5

Further discussion of the segment results, including Automotive Products and Electrical Products which comprise the OEM segment,
can be found under "Management's Discussion and Analysis--Results of Operations.”

1/ Revenues are primarily from the North American area. Mgjor customersfor the Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEM) segment
are Ford, Chrysler, and General Motors which accounted for $408.8, $173.8, and $164.5 million in 1995; $325.6, $177.6, and $135.9
millionin 1994; $266.9, $118.2, and $132.0 millionin 1993; $219.3, $96.7, and $148.1 million in 1992; and $177.5, $75.8, and
$115.6 million in 1991 of this segment's revenues.

2/ Interest expense of the financesubsidiary of $2.2,$2.9, $3.8, $6.0,and $7.9 million in 1995, 1994, 1993, 1992, and 1991,
respectively, has been included in the Other Products segment.

(dollars in mllions)

Capita

Identifiable Depr eci ati on Expendi t ur es

Total Assets (Years ended (Years ended

(Decenber 31) Decenber 31) Decenber 31)
1995 1994 1993 1995 1994 1993 1995 1994 1993
Aut onoti ve Products $426. 3 $361. 9 $322. 4 $34.0 $27.4 $21.1 $62. 6 $58.0 $31.5
El ectrical Products 162. 5 158.9 161.0 12. 3 12.7 12.0 12.9 8.1 14.8
Water Products 132.1 127.8 119.0 6.0 6.0 5.9 9.8 4.8 3.5
Fi bergl ass Products 37.0 31.6 27.3 1.8 1.4 1.9 3.8 3.5 3.5
G her Products 95.2 82.0 102. 5 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.2 1.1 1.2

I nvestments in

affiliated comnpanies 21.6 17.3 23.8 -- -- -- -- -- --
Cor porate assets 78.2 68. 4 67.1 .4 4 3 L7 6 2
Tot al $952. 9 $847.9 $823.1 $55.7 $49.2 $42.6 $91.0 $76.1 $54.7

15. Quarterly Resultsof Operations (Unaudited)
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(dollars in mllions, except per share anounts

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
1995 1994 1995 1994 1995 1994 1995 1994
Net revenues $393.0 $339.8 $399.8 $350. 2 $354. 4 $332.7 $397. 6 $350. 8
Goss profit 64.2 53.4 64.3 58.5 40. 4 46. 3 54.3 53.3
Net earni ngs 18. 4 15.7 20.0 18.0 7.4 10.1 15. 6 13.5
Net earnings per share .88 .76 .96 . 86 .36 .48 .74 .65
Common di vi dends decl ared .13 L11 .15 .13 .15 .13 .15 .13

See note 7 for restrictions on the paynent of dividends.

ITEM 9 - CHANGESIN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None
PART 111

ITEM 10 - DIRECTORSAND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information included under the heading "Election of Directors' in the corporation's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 4,
1996 for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 3, 1996 isincorporated herein by reference. The information required
regarding Executive Officers of the Corporation isincluded in Part | of this Form 10-K under the caption "Executive Officers of the
Corporation.”

The information included under the heading " Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act" in the corporation's
definitive Proxy Statement dated March 4, 1996 for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on April 3, 1996 isincorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information included under the heading " Executive Compensation” in the corporation's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 4,
1996 for the April 3, 1996 Annual Meeting of Stockholdersisincorporated herein by reference, except for theinformation required by

paragraphs (i), (k) and
(1) of Item 402(a)(8) of Regulation S-K.
ITEM 12 - SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information included under the headings "Principal Stockholders® and "Security Ownership of Directors and Management"” in the
corporation's Proxy Statement dated March 4, 1996 for the April 3, 1996 Annual Meeting of Stockholders isincorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 13 - CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The information included under the headings "Relationships and Related Transactions' and "Compensation Committee I nterlocks and
Insider Participation” in the corporation’'s Proxy Statement dated March 4, 1996 for the April 3, 1996 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
isincorporated herein by reference.

PART IV
ITEM 14 - EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTSON FORM 8-K

(a) Financia Statements and Financial Statement Schedules
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Form 10- K
Page
Nunber
The follow ng consolidated financial statenents of
A. O Snith Corporation are included in Item 8:

Consol i dat ed Bal ance Sheet at Decenber 31, 1995
and 1994 .. ... 24

For each of the three years in the period ended
Decenber 31, 1995:
- Consol i dated Statenent of Earnings

and Retained Earnings ............. ... ... 25
- Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ........... 26
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statenent.......... 27-42

The followi ng consolidated financial statenent
schedule of A. O Smth Corporation is included
in ltem 14(d):

Schedul e I'l - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ... 45

All other schedules are omitted since therequired information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficientto require
submission of the schedule, or because the information required isincluded in the consolidated financial statementsor the notes
thereto.

Financial statements of Metalsa S.A., an affiliatein whichthe corporation has a 40 percent investment, are omitted since it does not
meet thesignificant subsidiary test of Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

No reports on Form 8-K werefiled during the last quarter of 1995.

(c) Exhibits- seethe Index to Exhibits on pages 50-52 of this report.

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14a-3(b)(10) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the corporation will, upon
request and upon payment of a reasonable fee not to exceed the rate at which such copies are available fromthe Securities and

Exchange Commission, furnish copies to its security holders of any exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits.

Management contracts and compensatory plansand arrangements required to be filed as exhibits pursuant to Item 14(c) of Form 10-K
are listed as Exhibits 10(a) through 10(h) in thelndex to Exhibits.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant hasduly caused this report
to be signed on behalf of the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

A.0O. SMITH CORPORATION

By: /s/ Robert J. O Toole
Robert J. O Tool e
Chi ef Executive
Oficer
Date: March 22, 1995
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Name and Title
ROBERT J. O TOOLE
Chai rman of the Board of
Directors, President, and
Chi ef Executive Oficer
GLEN R BOVBERGER
Executive Vice President,
Chi ef Financial Oficer, and
Di rector

JOHN J. KITA

Treasurer and Controller

TOM H. BARRETT, Director

RUSSELL G CLEARY, Director

THOMAS |. DOLAN, Director

LEE W JENNI NGS, Director

AGNAR PYTTE, Director

DONALD J. SCHUENKE, Director
Schuenke

ARTHUR O SM TH, Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below as of March 22, 1995 by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Si gnature

/s/ Robert J. O Tool e
Robert J. O Tool e

/s/ den R Bonberger
d en R Bonberger

/sl John J. Kita
John J. Kita

/s/ TomH Barrett
Tom H Barrett

/sl Russell G deary
Russell G deary

/'s/ Thomas |. Dol an
Thomas |. Dol an

/sl Lee W Jennings
Lee W Jennings

/sl Agnar Pytte
Agnar Pytte

/'s/ Donald J.
Donal d J. Schuenke

/sl Arthur O Snmith
Arthur O Smith

A.O. SMITH CORPORATION
SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(000 Omitted)
Yearsended December 31, 1995, 1994, and 1993
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Addi ti ons

Bal ance at Charged to Charged Bal ance
at

Begi nning Costs and to Qher t he End
of
Description of Year Expenses/ 1 Accounts Deductions/?2 Year
1995:
Val uati on al | owance
for trade and notes
recei vabl e $ 2,455 $ 773 $  -- $ 621 $ 2,607

Val uati on al | owance
for finance subsidiary
recei vabl es 10, 020 3,533 -- 11, 364 2,189

1994:

Val uati on al | owance

for trade and notes

recei vabl e 3, 986 579 - - 2,110 2,455

Val uati on al | owance
for finance subsidiary
recei vabl es 14, 564 4,800 - - 9, 344 10, 020

1993:
Val uati on al | owance
for trade and notes
recei vabl es 1, 738 2,624 - - 376 3, 986

Val uati on al | owance
for finance subsidiary
recei vabl es 20, 585 1, 750 - - 7,771 14, 564

1/ Provision (credit) based upon estimated collection. 2/ Uncollectible amounts charged against the reserve.

For the purposes of complying withthe amendmentsto therules governing Form S-8 (effective July 13, 1990) under the Securities Act
of 1933, the undersigned registrant hereby undertakes as follows, which undertaking shall be incorporated by reference into registrant's
Registration Statements on Form S-8 Nos. 2-72542 filed on May 26, 1981, Post-Effective Amendment No. 1, filed on May 12, 1983,
Post-Effective Amendment No. 2, filed on December 22, 1983, Post-Effective Amendment No. 3, filed on March 30, 1987; 33-19015
filed on December 11, 1987; 33-21356 filed on April 21, 1988; Form S-8 No. 33-37878 filed November 16, 1990; and Form S-8 No.
33-56827 filed December 13, 1994.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers, and
controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant hasbeen advised that in the
opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of
1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable. Inthe event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by
the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer, or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any
action, suit, or proceedings) is asserted by such director, officer, or controlling person in connection withthe securities being
registered, the registrant will, unlessin theopinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court
of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy asexpressed in the Act and will be
governed by the final adjudication of suchissue.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
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Exhi bi t Form 10- K

Number Description Page
Nunber

*(3)(i) Restated Certificate of I|Incorporation of the
corporation as amended April 5, 1995
i ncorporated by reference to the quarterly report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1995
and as further anmended on February 5, 1996 . . . . . N A

(3)(ii) By-laws of the corporation as anended
February 5, 1990 incorporated by reference to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1989 . . . . . e N A

(4) (a) The corporation's outstanding |long-term
debt is described in Note 7 to the Consolidated
Fi nanci al Statenments. None of the |ong-term debt
is registered under the Securities Act of 1933.
None of the debt instrunents outstanding at the
date of this report exceeds 10% of the Corporation's
total consolidated assets, except for the item
di scl osed as exhibit 4(b) below. The corporation
agrees to furnish to the Securities & Exchange
Conmi ssi on, upon request, copies of any
instrunments defining rights of hol ders of
| ong-term debt described in Note 7.

(b) Extension and Third Armendnent, dated as of

June 30, 1995, $160 MIlion Credit Agreenent

i ncorporated by reference to the quarterly report

on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1995 . . N A

(c) A O Snmith Corporation Restated Certificate

of Incorporation as amended April 5, 1995
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hereto). . . . . N A

(10) Material Contracts
(a) 1990 Long-Term Executive Conpensation Plan,
as anended, incorporated by reference to the
Form S-8 Registration Statement filed by t he
corporation on Decenber 13, 1994 . . . . e N A

(b) 1980 Long-Term Executive |Incentive Conpensation

Pl an incorporated by reference to the corporation's

Proxy Statenent dated March 1, 1988 for an Apr|l 6,

1988 Annual Meeting of Sharehol ders . . . N A

(c) Executive Incentive Conpensation Plan,

as anended, incorporated by reference to the

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended Decenber 31, 1992 . . . . . . . . . . . . N A

(d) Letter Agreenent dated Decenber 15, 1979, as

anended by the Letter Agreenent dated Novenber 9,

1981, between the corporation and Thonmas |. Dol an

i ncorporated by reference to Amendnent No. 2 to the

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

Decenber 31, 1984 . . . . . . . . . . . .. ... N A

(e) Supplenental Benefit Plan, as anended,
i ncorporated by reference to the Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
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* Filed Herewith
N/A = Not Applicable

RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
A.O. SMITH CORPORATION

1. The name of thecorporation is A. O. Smith Corporation (the "Corporation”). The date of filing of its original Certificate of
Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware was July 9, 1986.

2. This Restated Certificate of Incorporation restates and integrates and further amends the Certificate of Incorporation of this
corporation to read as herein set forth in full:

ARTICLE 1

The name of thecorporation is"A. O. SMITH CORPORATION."
ARTICLE 2

The address of the corporation's Registered Office in the State of Delaware is The Prentice-Hall Corporation System, Inc., 1013
Centre Road, City of Wilmington, County of New Castle. The nameof its Registered Agent at such address is The Prentice-Hall
Corporation System, Inc.

ARTICLE 3
The nature of the business or purposes to be conducted or promoted are:

(A) 1. To manufacture, buy, sell, export, import and generally deal in al kinds of manufactured products and materials therefor, and in
particular, steel and iron products and materials therefor.

2. To carry on the business of mining, milling, concentrating, converting, smelting, treating, preparing for market, manufacturing,
buying, selling, exchanging and otherwise producing and dealing in gold, silver, copper, lead, zinc, brass, iron, steel and all kinds of
ores, metals and mineralsand the products and by-products thereof. Without in any way limiting the foregoing to search for, prospect
and explorefor ores and mineralsand to locate mining claims, grounds or lodes in the United States of America or the states or
territories thereof or in other countries and record the same pursuant to the mining laws of the said United States or the states or
territories thereof or other countries.

3. To manufacture, buy, sell, lease and deal in machinery for mining and other usesand to buy or otherwise acquire, apply for, sell,
deal in, trade and et to lease upon rents or royaltiesand patents or patent rights on machinery, tools or equipment whichmay be used
in mining and to conduct a general mining and manufacturing business.

4. In general, but in connection withthe purposes set forthin thisArticle 3, to carry on any other business, whether manufacturing or
otherwise, andto have and exercise all the powers conferred by the laws of Delaware upon secular corporations.

(B) To apply for, obtain, register, purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire, and to hold, own, use, operate and introduce, and to sell,
assign or otherwise dispose of |etters patent, licenses, trademarks, trade names, and any and all inventions, improvements and
processes used in connection with, or secured under letters patent of the United States of America or of any other country or
government and pending applications therefor, including any interest therein, and to grant licenses in respect thereto, or otherwise turn
the sameto theuse and account of the corporation.

(C) To acquire by purchase, lease or otherwise, upon suchterms and conditions and in such manner as the board of directors of the
corporation shall determine or agree to, and to the extent which the same may be alowed by the Delaware General Corporation Law,
all or any part of the property, real and personal, tangible or intangible, of any nature whatsoever, including the good will, business and
rights of all kinds, or any other corporation or of any person, firmor association, which may be useful or convenient in the business of
the corporation, and to pay for the samein cash, stocks, bonds or in other securities of this corporation, or partly in cash and partly in
such stocks, bonds or in other securities, or in such other manner as may be agreed, and to hold, possess and improve such properties,
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and to conduct in any legal manner the wholeor any part of the business so acquired, and to pledge, mortgage, sell or otherwise
dispose of the same.

(D) To borrow money, and, fromtimeto time, to make, accept, endorse, executeand issue bonds, debentures, promissory notes, bills
of exchange and other obligationsof the corporation for moneys borrowed or in payment for property acquired or for any of the other
objects or purposes of the corporation or its business, and as permitted by law to secure the payment of any such obligations by
mortgage, pledge, deed, indenture, agreement or other instrument of trust, or by other lien upon, assignment of or agreement in regard
to, all or any part of the property, rights, privilegesor franchises of the corporation wheresoever situated, whether now owned or
hereafter to be acquired.

(E) To acquire by purchase, subscription or otherwise, and to hold and own and to sell, assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of
the stock, or certificates of interestin shares of stocks, bonds, debentures, obligationsand other evidences of indebtedness of any other
corporation, domestic or foreign, and to issue in exchange therefor the stock, bonds, or other obligations of the corporation and while
the owner of any such stock, certificates of interest in shares of stock, bonds, debentures, obligations and other evidences of
indebtedness, to possess and exercise in respect thereof all of the rights, powers and privileges of ownership, including the right to vote
thereon, and alsoin themanner, and to the extent, now or hereafter authorized or permitted by the laws of the State of Delaware, to
purchase, acquire, own and hold and to dispose of (except as herein otherwise expressly provided) the stock, bonds or other evidences
of indebtedness of the corporation; and to organize or causeto be organized under the laws of any state or other government,
corporations, companies, associations, trusts, partnerships and other organizations for any lawful purpose, and to dissolve, liquidate,
wind up, reorganize, merge or consolidate the same or cause the same to be dissolved, liquidated, wound up, reorganized, merged or
consolidated.

(F) To theextent permitted by law, guarantee the payment of dividends on, or the payment or principal of or interest on, any stocks,
bonds, notes, debentures, or other securities or obligations of any individual, corporation, company, association, trust, partnership or
other organization in which the corporation has an interest or any of whose securities it owns; to the extent permitted by law, to
become surety for and to guarantee the carrying out or performance of contracts of every kind and character of any individual,
corporation, company, association, trust, partnership of other organization in which the corporation hasan interest or any of whose
securitiesit owns; and to aid in any lawful manner any individual, corporation, company, association, trust, partnership or other
organization in which the corporation has an interest or any of whose securities it owns.

(G) To execute and deliver general or specia powers of attorney to individuals, corporations, companies, associations, trusts,
partnerships and other organizations, whether public or private, astheboard of directors shall determine.

(H) In genera to do any or all of thethings hereinbefore set forth, and such other things asare incidental or conduciveto the
attainment of the objects and purposes of the corporation, as principal, factor, agent, contractor or otherwise, either alone or in
conjunction withany person, firm, association or corporation, and in carrying on its business and for the purpose of attaining or
furthering any of its objects to makeand perform contracts, and to do such acts and things and to exercise any and al such powersto
the sameextent as a natural person might or could lawfully do to the extent allowed by law.

(I) Tohave oneor more offices and to carry onits operations and transact its business withinand without the State of Delaware, and,
without restriction or limit as to amount, to purchase or otherwise acquire, hold, own, mortgage, sell, convey or otherwise dispose of
real and personal property of every class and description in any of thestates, districts, territories or dependencies of the United States,
and in any and all foreign countries, subject alwaysto thelaws of such state, district, territory, dependency or foreign country.

The foregoing clauses shall each be construed asboth purposes and powers, and the mattersexpressed in each clause shall, except as
otherwise expressly provided, bein nowise limited by referenceto or inference from theterms of any other clause, but shall be
regarded asindependent purposes and powers, and the enumeration of specific purposes and powers shall not be construed to limit or
restrict in any manner the meaning of general termsor the general powers of the corporation; nor shall the expression of one thing be
deemed to exclude another, athough it be of like nature, not expressed.

ARTICLE 4

The aggregate number of shareswhich the corporation has the authority to issue shall be seventy-seven million (77,000,000) shares,
consisting of:

(a) fourteen million (14,000,000) sharesdesignated as "Class A Common Stock," with a par value of Five Dollars ($5) per share;

(b) sixty million (60,000,000) shares designated as "Common Stock," with a par value of One Dollar ($1) per share; and
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(c) threemillion (3,000,000) sharesdesignated as "Preferred Stock," with a par value of One Dollar ($1) per share.

Any and all such shares of Class A Common Stock, Common Stock and Preferred Stock may be issued for such consideration, not less
than the par value thereof, asshall be fixed fromtime to time by theboard of directors. Upon any distribution of authorized but
unissued shares to stockholders, the part of the surplus of the corporation (not less than the par value of such shares) whichis
concurrently transferred to stated capital shall be deemed the consideration for the issue of such shares. Any and all such shares so
issued, thefull consideration for which has been paid, delivered or so transferred, shall be deemed fully paid stock and shall not be
liable to any further call or assessment thereon, and the holders of such shares shall not be liablefor any further payments except as
otherwise provided by applicable law of the State of Delaware or any other statein which the corporation holds a certificate of
authority to do business. The relative rights, preferences and limitations of each class shall be as follows:

(A) Class A Common Stock and Common Stock

Except as provided in this Article 4, the Class A Common Stock and the Common stock shall have the same rights and privilegesand
shall rank equally, share ratably and be identical in all respects asto al matters.

(2) Dividends, Combinations; and Subdivisions.

(8) The holders of the Class A Common Stock and Common Stock shall be entitled to receive, when and asdeclared by the board of
directors, such dividendsincluding share distributions (as defined in paragraph (A)(1)(b)) as may be declared from timeto time by the
board of directors subject to any limitationsapplicable by law of the State of Delaware, to the rights of the holders of the Preferred
Stock, and to thefollowing limitation. Whenever adividend whichis not a share distribution is paid to the holders of Class A Common
Stock, the corporation shall also pay to theholders of Common Stock adividend per share at least equal to thedividend per share paid
to the holders of the Class A Common Stock. The corporation may pay dividends which are not share distributions to holders of
Common Stock in excess of dividends paid, or without paying dividends, to holders of Class A Common Stock.

(b) If at any time adistribution isto be paid in Class A Common Stock or Common Stock (a"share distribution™), such share
distribution may be declared and distributed only as follows:

(i) Shares of one class of either the Class A Common Stock or the Common Stock (the "first class') may be distributed on shares of
that class, provided that there is declared and paid a simultaneous distribution of shares of the other class of stock (the "second class')
to the holders of the second class which simultaneousdistribution shall consist of a number of shares of the second class equal on a per
share basisto the number of shares of thefirst classwhich are distributed to holders of thefirst class.

(ii) Subject to any limitations of thelaws of the State of Delaware, shares of thefirst class may be distributed on shares of the second
class, provided that thereis declared and paid a simultaneousdistribution of shares of thefirst classto holders of shares of thefirst
class which simultaneous distribution shall consist of a number of shares of the first class equal on aper sharebasis to the number of
shares of the first class which aredistributed to holders of the second class.

(c) The corporation shall not combine or subdivide shares of thefirst class without making a simultaneous combination or subdivision
of sharesof the second class whichisequal on a per share basisto the combination or subdivision of the shares of thefirst class.

(2) Voting.
Voting power shall be divided between the Class A Common Stock and the Common Stock as follows:

(a) With respect to the election of directors, holders of the Common Stock, voting asa separate class, shall be entitled to el ect that
number of directors which constitutes 25% of the authorized number of members of the board of directors and, if such25% isnot a
whole number, then the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to elect to the nearest higher whole number of directors that is
at least 25% of such membership. Holders of Class A Common Stock, voting as a separate class but subject to any voting rights which
may be granted to holders of Preferred Stock, shall be entitled to elect the remaining directors.

(b) The holders of Class A Common Stock shall be entitled to vote asa separate classbut subject to any voting rights which may be
granted to holders of Preferred Stock, on the removal with or without cause, of any director elected by the holders of Class A Common
Stock, and the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to vote as aseparate class on the removal, with or without cause, of any
director elected by the holdersof Common Stock.

(c) Inthe discretion of theboard of directors, (i) any vacancy in the office of adirector elected by the holders of the Class A Common
Stock may be filled by a vote of such holders, voting as a separate classbut subject to any voting rights which may be granted to
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holders of Preferred Stock, and any vacancy in theoffice of a director elected by the holders of the Common Stock may be filled by a
vote of such holders, voting as a separate class, or (ii) in the case of avacancy in the office of adirector elected by either class, such
vacancy may be filled by the remaining directors. Any director elected by the board of directors to fill avacancy shall serve until the
next Annual Meeting of Stockholders and until his successor has been elected and has qualified. If permitted by the By-Laws, the
board of directors may (i) increase the number of directors and any vacancy so created may be filled by the board of directors, or

(i1) decrease the number of directors; provided that, so long asthe holders of Common Stock had the rights provided in paragraph
(A)(2)(a) of this Article 4in respect of the last Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the board of directors may be so enlarged (or so
decreased) only to theextent that at least 25% of the enlarged (or decreased) board consists of directors elected by the holders of the
Common Stock or by directors appointed to fill vacancies created by the death, resignation or removal of directors elected by the
holders of the Common Stock.

(d) The Common Stock will not have theright to elect directors set forth in paragraphs (A)(2)(a) and (A)(2)(c) of thisArticle 4, if, on
the record date of any stockholder meeting at which directors are to be elected, the number of issued and outstanding shares of
Common Stock is less than 10% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and Common
Stock. Insuch case, al directorsto be elected at such meeting shall be elected by holders of Class A Common Stock and Common
Stock, votingtogether asa single class but subject to any voting rights which may be granted to holders of Preferred Stock, provided
that with respect to said election, the holders of Class A Common Stock shall have one vote per share and holders of Common Stock
shall have one-tenth vote per share. The Class A Common Stock will not have the right to elect directors set forth in paragraphs
(A)(2)(a and (A)(2)(c) of this Article 4, if, onthe record date for any stockholder meeting at which directors are to be elected, the
number of issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock islessthan 12.5% of the aggregate number of issued and
outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and Common Stock. Insuch case, holders of Common Stock, voting as a separate class,
shall have the right to elect 25% of the members of theboard of directors as provided in paragraph (A)(2)(a) of thisArticle 4, and
holders of Class A Common Stock and Common Stock voting together as a separate class but subject to any voting rights which may
be granted to holders of Preferred Stock, shall be entitled to elect the remaining directors, provided that with respect to said election,
the holders of Class A Common Stock shall have one vote per share and the holdersof Common Stock shall have one-tenth vote per
share.

(e) Subject to the provisions of section (D) of this Article 4, theholders of Class A Common Stock and Common Stock shall in al
matters not specified in paragraphs (A)(2)(a), (b), (c) and (d) of this Article 4 vote together as a single class but subject to any voting
rights whichmay be granted to holders of Preferred Stock, provided that the holders of Class A Common Stock shall have one vote per
share and the holders of Common Stock shall have one-tenth vote per share.

(f) Notwithstanding anything in this subsection (A)(2) or in section (D) of this Article 4 to the contrary but subject to any voting rights
whichmay be granted to holders of Preferred Stock, theholders of Class A Common Stock shall have exclusive voting power on all
matters, at any time whenno Common Stock isissued and outstanding, and the holders of Common Stock shall have exclusivevoting
power on al matters at any time when no Class A Common Stock isissued and outstanding.

(3) Conversion.

(8) The holder of any shares of Class A Common Stock at his option will be entitled at any time to convert each share of Class A
Common Stock into one share of Common Stock. Such right shall be exercised by the surrender of the shares of Class A Common
Stock so to be converted to the corporation at any time during normal business hoursat the office or agency then maintained by it for
payment of dividends on the shares of the Class A Common Stock and the Common Stock (the "Payment Office"), accompanied by
written notice of such holder'selection to convert and (if so required by the corporation or any conversion agent) by instruments of
transfer, in form satisfactory to the corporation and to any conversion agent, duly executed by theregistered holder or by hisduly
authorized attorney.

(b) As promptly aspracticable after the surrender for conversion of any shares of Class A Common Stock in the manner provided in
paragraph A(3)(a) of this Article 4, the corporation will deliver or causeto be delivered at the Payment Office to or upon the written
order of theholder of such shares, certificates representing the number of full shares of Common Stock issuable upon such conversion,
issued in such name or names assuch holder may direct. Such conversion shall be deemed to have been made immediately prior to the
close of business on the date of such surrender of the shares of Class A Common Stock, and all rights of the holder of such sharesas a
holder of such shares shall cease at such time and the person or persons in whose name or namesthe certificates for shares of Common
Stock are to be issued shall be treated for all purposes as having become therecord holder or holdersthereof at suchtime; provided,
however, that any such surrender on any date when the stock transfer books of the corporation shall be closed shall constitute the
person or persons in whose name or namesthe certificates for such shares of Common Stock are to be issued as therecord holder or
holders thereof for all purposes immediately prior to the close of business on the next succeeding day onwhich such stock transfer
books are opened.
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(c) Noadjustments in respect of dividends shall be made upon the conversion of any shares of the Class A Common Stock; provided,
however, that if sharesof Class A Common Stock shall be converted subsequent to the record date preceding a dividend payment on
the Class A Common Stock but prior to the payment date for such dividend, the registered holder of such shares of Class A Common
Stock at the close of business on such record date nonetheless shall be entitled to receive thedividend paid on such shares, if any, on
such payment date notwithstanding the conversion thereof.

(d) The corporation covenantsthat it will at all times reserve and keep available, solely for the purpose of issue upon conversion of the
shares of Class A Common Stock, such number of shares of Common Stock as shall be issuable upon the conversion of all such
outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock, provided, that nothing contained herein shall be construed to preclude the corporation
from satisfyingits obligations in respect of the conversion of the shares of Class A Common Stock by delivery of shares of Common
Stock which areheld in the treasury of the corporation.

The corporation covenantsthat all shares of Common Stock which shall be issued upon conversion of the shares of the Class A
Common Stock will upon issue be fully paid and non-assessable and not subject to any preemptive rights, except as otherwise required
by applicable law.

(B) Preferred Stock
(1) Series of Preferred Stock

The board of directors shall have authority, by resolution or resolutions, to divide the Preferred Stock into series, to establish and
designate each such series and the number of sharesthereof (whichnumber, by like action of the board of directors from timeto time
thereafter, may be increased except when otherwise provided by the board of directors in creating such series, or may be decreased but
not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding), and to determine and fix the rights, preferences and limitations in respect of
the shares of each series established prior to theissuance thereof, and therelative variationstherein as between series, to thefullest
extent now or hereafter permitted by applicable law of the State of Delaware, and (without limiting the generality of theforegoing)
particularly with respect to:

(a) Therateof dividend and the initial original issue date or other date from which such dividends shall be cumulative;

(b) The price or prices, at the period or periods within, and the termsand conditions on which sharesmay or shall be redeemed;
(c) The amounts payable upon sharesin the event of voluntary liquidation or involuntary liquidation;

(d) The terms of thesinking fund provisions or redemption or purchase account, if any, for theredemption or purchase of shares;

(e) Thetermsand conditions on which shares may be converted into shares of Class A Common Stock or Common Stock, if the shares
of any series areissued with the privilege of conversion; and

(f) Whether or not shares shall have voting powers, and the terms and conditions upon which any voting powers may be exercised;
provided that, so long asany Common Stock is outstanding, no Preferred Stock with voting powers shall have more than one vote per
share nor shall any such Preferred Stock be entitled to vote with the Common Stock in the election of 25% of the members of the
board of directors pursuant to paragraph (A)(2)(a) of this Article 4, on theremoval of directors elected by holders of Common Stock
pursuant to paragraph (A)(2)(b) of this Article 4, or in the filling of vacanciesin the office of adirector elected by holders of Common
Stock pursuant to paragraph (A)(2)(d) of this Article 4.

Except as to the matters in respect to which variations are permitted under thissubsection (B)(1), all series of the Preferred Stock of
the corporation, whenever designated and issued, shall have the samerights, preferences and limitations and shall rank equally, share
ratably and be identical in all respects as to al matters.

All shares of any one series of Preferred Stock established ashereinabove authorized shall be alike in every particular, and each series
thereof shall be distinctively designated by letter or descriptive words or figures.

Any shares of Preferred Stock reacquired by the corporation by purchase or redemption, through conversion, or through the operation
of any sinking fund or redemption or purchase account and which are thereafter cancelled shall have the status of authorized but
unissued shares of Preferred Stock of the corporation, and, subject to the provisions of any series of the Preferred Stock, may
thereafter be reissued as part of the same series or may be reclassified and reissued by theboard of directors in the same manner asany
other authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock
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(2) Dividends.

Before any dividends, other than stock dividends, shall be paid or set apart for payment upon either the Class A Common Stock or the
Common Stock, the holders of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends at the rate per annum specified as to each series
pursuant to paragraph (B)(1)(a), payable quarter-annually when and as declared by the board of directors.

Except as otherwise provided with respect to a particular series pursuant to paragraph (B)(1)(a), dividends shall accrue, in the case of
shares of each particular series.

(i) if issued prior to the record date for the first dividend on shares of such series, then from the date of initial original issue of shares
of such series;

(i) if issued during the period commencing immediately after therecord date for a dividend on shares of such series and terminating at
the close of the payment date for such dividend, then from such last mentioned dividend payment date; and

(iii) otherwise from the quarterly dividend payment date next preceding thedate of original issue of such shares;

provided, that if thedate of initial original issue of shares of any series shall be within thirty (30) days prior to the date when thefirst
guarter-annual dividend would otherwise be payable, the board of directors may provide that such first dividend shall be payable only
at thetime of payment of the dividend for the next quarter-annual period, inwhich case no deficiency in payment of suchfirst dividend
shall exist by reason of such deferral.

All dividends of Preferred Stock shall be cumulative so that if the corporation shall not pay the quarterly dividend, or any part thereof,
on the Preferred Stock then issued and outstanding, such deficiency in thedividend onthe Preferred Stock shall thereafter be fully
paid, but without interest, before any cash dividend shall be paid or set apart for payment on either the Class A Common Stock or the
Common Stock.

Any dividend paid upon the Preferred Stock at a time when any accrued dividends for any prior period are delinquent shall be
expressy declared as adividend in wholeor partia payment of theaccrued dividend for the earliest period for which dividends are
then delinquent, and shall be so designated to each shareholder to whom payment is made.

All shares of Preferred Stock shall rank equally and shall share ratably, in proportion to therate of dividend fixed pursuant to
paragraph (B)(1)(a) in respect to each such share, in al dividends paid or set aside for payment for any dividend period or part thereof
upon any such shares.

(3) Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding Up.

In case of voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or windingup of the corporation, the holders of shares of each series of
Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive out of the assetsof the corporation in money or money's worth the applicable amount
specified pursuant to paragraph (B)(1)(c) with respect to that series of Preferred Stock, together with all accrued but unpaid dividends
thereon (whether or not earned or declared), before any of such assetsshall be paid or distributed to holders of Class A Common Stock
or Common Stock, and if the assetsof the corporation shall be insufficient to pay the holders of all of the Preferred Stock then
outstanding the entire amountsto which they may be entitled, the holders of each outstanding series of the Preferred Stock shall share
ratably in such assets in proportion to the amounts which would be payable withrespect to such seriesif all amounts payable thereon
were paid in full. The consolidating or merger of the corporation with or into any other corporation or corporations, or the merger of
any other corporation or corporations into the corporation, in pursuance of the laws of the State of Delaware and of any other
applicable state providing for consolidation or merger, shall not be deemed a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairsof the
corporation withinthe meaning of the foregoing provisions of thissubsection (B)(3), unless otherwise provided pursuant to paragraph

(B)(1)(©).
(C) Preemptive Rights.

No holder of Preferred, Class A Common Stock or Common Stock shall be entitled, as of right because of his ownership of such stock,
to subscribe for, purchase or receive any part of any new or additional issue of stock, whether Preferred Stock, Class A Common Stock
or Common Stock, or of bonds, debentures or other securities convertible into stock, or any part of any reacquired shares or
convertible securities held in treasury, but all such shares of stock or bonds, debentures or other securities convertible into stock may
be issued and disposed of by the board of directorsto such person or persons and on suchterms and for such consideration (sofar as
may be permitted by law) as the board of directors inits absolute discretion may deem advisable. The provisions of this section (C)
shall not impair any conversion right of any such convertible securities or any other right authorized by theboard of directorsto
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purchase or exchange, or to receive any distribution of, any securities of the corporation.

(D) Specid Voting Rights of Stockholders

(1) Subject to the voting rights of holders of Preferred Stock as may be established pursuant to subsection (B)(1) of thisArticle 4, the
holders of Class A Common Stock and the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to vote, and to vote as separate classes, upon the
authorization of any amendment to this Certificate of Incorporation, and, in addition to the authorization of any such amendment by
vote of amgjority of the total number of votes represented by all outstanding shares entitled to vote thereon, theamendment shall be
authorized by vote of amajority of the total number of votesrepresented by all outstanding shares of the Class A Common Stock
and/or the Common Stock if such amendment containsany provision which would:

(a) exclude or limit their right to vote on any matter, except as such right may be limited by voting rights given to new sharesthen
being authorized of any existing or new class or series,

(b) reduce the par value of their shares; or changetheir sharesinto a different number of shares of the same class or into thesame or a
different number of shares of any one or more classes or any series thereof, either with or without par value; or fix, change or abolish
the designation or any of the relative rights, preferences and limitations of their shares, including any provision in respect to any
undeclared dividends, whether or not cumulative or accrued, or theredemption of any shares, or any sinking fund for the redemption
or purchase of their shares, or any preemptive right to acquire shares or other securities; or alter theterms or conditions upon which
their shares are convertible or change the shares issuable upon conversion of their shares; if any such action would adversely affect
such holders, or

(c) subordinate their rights, by authorizing shares having preferences which would be in any respect superior to thoserights.

(2) Any plan of merger or consolidation shall be adopted at a meeting of stockholders by a vote of two-thirds of thetotal number of
votes represented by the outstanding shares entitled to votethereon. The holders of shares of aclass or series shall be entitled to vote
and to vote as a classif the plan of merger or consolidation containsany provision which, if contained in an amendment to the
Certificate of Incorporation, would entitle the holders of shares of such class or seriesto voteand vote as a classthereon pursuant to
subsection (D)(1) of this Article 4. In such case, in addition to the authorization of the plan of merger or consolidation by vote of
two-thirds of the total number of votes represented by all outstanding shares entitled to vote thereon, the plan of merger or
consolidation shall be authorized by vote of themajority of the total number of votesrepresented by all outstanding shares entitled to
vote thereon. Any plan of merger or consolidation of any subsidiary corporation or corporations, whether domestic or foreign, with
and into the corporation shall not be subject to the provisions of this subsection (D)(2) if the corporation owns at least ninety percent
of the outstanding shares of each class of capital stock of such subsidiary corporation or corporations.

For the purposes of this subsection (D)(2), thefinancial or other effect of any merger or consolidation on the corporation shall not be
deemed to affect adversely the powers, preferences or rights of any classor series of stock.

(3) Any sale, lease, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all the assets of the corporation, if not made in the usual or
regular course of the business actually conducted by the corporation shall be authorized by vote at a meeting of stockholders of
two-thirds of the total number of votes represented by all outstanding shares entitled to vote thereon.

(4) Any amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation which adds a provision specifyingthat any stockholders, or
the holders of any specified number or proportion of shares, or of any specified number or proportion of shares of any classor series
thereof, may requirethe dissolution of the corporation at will or upon the occurrence of a specified event, or which changesor strikes
out such aprovision, shall be authorized at a meeting of stockholders by a vote of a majority of the total votes represented by all
outstanding shares, whether or not otherwise entitled to vote on any such amendment.

(5) Any amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation which changes or strikes out any provision specifying that
the proportion of shares, or the proportion of shares of any class or series thereof, the holders of which shall be present in person or by
proxy at any meeting of stockholders in order to constitute a quorum for transaction of any business or of any specified item of
business, including amendments to this Certificate of Incorporation shall be greater than the proportion prescribed by law in the
absence of such provision, or any provision specifying that the proportion of votes of the holders of shares, or of the holders of shares
of any class or seriesthereof, that shall be necessary at any meeting of stockholders for the transaction of any business or of any
specified item of business, including amendmentsto thisRestated Certificate of Incorporation, shall be greater than such proportion
prescribed by law in the absence of such provision, shall be authorized at a meeting of stockholders by vote of two-thirds of the total
number of votes represented by all outstanding shares entitled to vote thereon.

ARTICLES
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The duration of the corporation isto be perpetual .
ARTICLE 6

The number of directors of the corporation shall be not lessthan fivenor more than such number as shall be fixed by resolution of the
board of directors from timeto time.

ARTICLE 7
The board of directors shall have the following powers, in addition to those prescribed by law or by the By-Lawsof the corporation;
(A) To make, alter, amend and repeal the By-Lawsof the corporation, to the extent permitted by the law of Delaware.

(B) To eect or appoint from among their number an Executive Committee, which committee, to the extent and in the manner provided
inthe By-Lawsof the corporation, shall have and may exercise all the powers of theboard of directors, in the management of the
business and affairs of the corporation, during theintervals between the meetings of the board of directors, so far as may be permitted
by law, and such other standing committees as the board from time to time may determine to elect to appoint, which committees shall
have and may exercise such powers as may be prescribed in the By-Lawsor delegated to them by the board.

(C) From time to time to determine, so far as permitted by law, whether and to what extent, and at what time and places and under
what conditions and regulations the accounts and books of the corporation, or any of them, shall be open to the inspection of
stockholders, and no stockholder shall have any right to inspect any book or account or document of the corporation except as
conferred by the lawsof the State of Delaware or authorized by the board of directors.

(D) Subject to the provisions of thelaws of the State of Delaware to hold their meetings either within or without the State of Delaware,
to have oneor more offices, and to keep the books of the corporation (except such books as arerequired by law to be kept at the office
of thecorporation in the State of Delaware) outside of the State of Delaware, and at such place or places as may from timeto time be

designated by them.

(E) To elect or appoint such officers, and to provide that the persons so elected or appointed shall have and may exercise such powers
as may be prescribed from time to time by the By-L aws of the corporation.

ARTICLE 8

The corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision herein contained, in the manner now or hereafter
prescribed by law, and al rights conferred on stockholders hereunder are granted subject to this provision.

ARTICLE 9
No director of the corporation shall be liableto the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty
as adirector, except for liability (i) for any breach of thedirector's duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or

omissions not in good faith or whichinvolveintentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) under Section 174 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law, or (iv) for any transaction fromwhich thedirector derived animproper persona benefit.

3. The amendment and restatement of the Certificate of Incorporation herein certified have been duly adopted by the stockholders as of
January 26, 1993 in accordance with the provisions of Sections 242 and 245 of the Genera Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, A. O. Smith Corporation has caused thisRestated Certificate to be signedby Robert J. O'Toole, its
President and attested by W. David Romoser, its Secretary, this5th day of February, 1996.

A.O. SMITH CORPORATION
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By: /s/ Robert J. O Tool e
Robert J. O Tool e,

Pr esi dent
ATTEST:
By: /s/ W David Ronoser

W David Ronobser, Secretary

EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES
The following listsall significant subsidiaries and affiliates of A. O. Smith Corporation. Certain direct and indirect subsidiaries of A.

0. Smith Corporation have been omitted because, considered in the aggregate as asingle subsidiary, such subsidiaries would not
constitute a significant subsidiary.
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Jurisdiction

i n Wich

Narme of Subsidiary
I ncor por at ed
ACS Hol di ng Conpany Del awar e
A. O Smth Harvestore Products, Inc. Del awar e
A. O Smith International Corporation

also d/b/a A O Smith Autonotive

Products G oup-Japan Del awar e
Agri Stor Credit Corporation Del awar e
Smith Fiberglass Products Inc. Del awar e
Peabody Solid Flows, Inc. Del awar e
Peabody TecTank, Inc. M ssouri
A. O Smith Export, Ltd. Bar bados
G aynore I nsurance Conpany, Ltd. Ber nuda
A O Smith Enterprises Ltd.

also d/b/a A. O Smth Autonotive

Product s Conpany- Canada Canada
A O Smith L'eau Chaude S.a.r.|. France
AL O Smth Electric Mtors (Ilreland) Ltd. I rel and
A O Smth Holding (Ireland) Ltd. I rel and
Met al sa, S. A Mexi co
Motores El ectricos de Juarez, S.A de C VW Mexi co
Mot ores El ectricos de Monterrey, S.A de C VW Mexi co
Productos de Agua, S. A de C V. Mexi co
Productos El ectricos Aplicados, S. A de C V. Mexi co
A. O Smith Water Products Conpany B. V. The

Net her | ands

Changchun A. O Smth Golden Ring

Aut onoti ve Products Conpany Ltd. Chi na
Harbin A. O Snmith Fiberglass Products

Conpany Linited (HSF) Chi na
Nanjing A O Smith Water Heater Co. Ltd. Chi na

EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to theincorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 2-72542, 33-19015, 33-21356, 33-37878
and 33- 56827) pertaining to the 1980 L ong-Term Executive Incentive Compensation Plan and the 1990 L ong-Term Executive
Incentive Compensation Plan of

A. O. Smith Corporation and in the related prospectuses of our report dated January 16, 1996, with respect to the consolidated
financial statementsand schedule of A. O. Smith Corporation included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended
December 31, 1995.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
March 18, 1996
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ARTICLE 5

THE SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF A.O. SMITH CORPORATION
ASOF AND FOR THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995AND ISQUALIFIED IN ITSENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MULTIPLIER: 1,000

PERIOD TYPE 12 MOS
FISCAL YEAR END DEC 311995
PERIOD START JAN 011995
PERIOD END DEC 311995
CASH 5,694
SECURITIES 0
RECEIVABLES 179,373
ALLOWANCES 0
INVENTORY 103,540
CURRENT ASSETS 352,485
PP&E 984,460
DEPRECIATION (537,105)
TOTAL ASSETS 952,918
CURRENT LIABILITIES 213,647
BONDS 190,938
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0
PREFERRED 0
COMMON 106,112
OTHER SE 266,252
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 952,918
SALES 1,544,770
TOTAL REVENUES 1,544,770
CGS 1,321,591
TOTAL COSTS 1,321,591
OTHER EXPENSES 116,564
LOSSPROVISION 0
INTEREST EXPENSE 13,093
INCOME PRETAX 93,522
INCOME TAX 35,473
INCOME CONTINUING 61,413
DISCONTINUED 0
EXTRAORDINARY 0
CHANGES 0
NET INCOME 61,413
EPSPRIMARY $2.94
EPSDILUTED $2.94

End of Filing
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